Draft Reserve Bank of India (Standalone Primary Dealers) Directions, 2025

DRAFT FOR COMMENTS

RBI/2025-26/--

DOR.FIN.REC.No./ 00-00-000/2025-26

XX, 2025

Reserve Bank of India (Standalone Primary Dealers) Directions, 2025

Table of Contents

Chapter I – Preliminary	2
Chapter II – Registration	6
Chapter III – Capital Funds and Capital Requirements	8
Chapter IV – Sources and Application of Funds	43
Chapter V – Prudential Regulations	51
Chapter VI – Governance Issues – Corporate Governance	54
Chapter VII – Miscellaneous Instructions	63
Chapter VIII – Reporting Requirements	77
Chapter IX – Repeal and Other Provisions	78
Annex I	79
Annex II	80
Annex III	82
Annex IV	83
Annex V	86
Annex VI	91
Annov VII	11/

Introduction

In exercise of the powers conferred under Section 45JA, 45L and 45M of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (2 of 1934), the Reserve Bank, having considered it necessary in the public interest, and being satisfied that, for the purpose of enabling it to regulate the financial system to the advantage of the country and to prevent the affairs of any Standalone Primary Dealer (SPD) from being conducted in a manner detrimental to the interest of investors or in any manner prejudicial to the interest of such SPD, hereby issues to every SPD, the Directions hereinafter specified.

Chapter I – Preliminary

A. Short Title and Commencement

- **1.** These Directions shall be called the Reserve Bank of India (Standalone Primary Dealers) Directions, 2025.
- **2.** These directions shall come into force with immediate effect.

B. Applicability

- **3.** These Directions shall apply to all Standalone Primary Dealers (SPDs) registered as Non-Banking Financial Company (NBFC) with the RBI.
- **4.** These Directions consolidate the regulations as issued by Department of Regulation, Reserve Bank of India. However, any other Directions/ guidelines issued by any other Department of the Reserve Bank, as applicable to a Standalone Primary Dealer shall be adhered to, by it.

B.1 Regulatory Structure under Scale Based Regulation for NBFCs

- **5.** Regulatory structure for NBFCs shall comprise of four layers based on their size, activity and perceived riskiness. NBFCs in the lowest layer shall be known as NBFCs-Base Layer. NBFCs in Middle Layer and Upper Layer shall be known as NBFCs-Middle Layer and NBFCs-Upper Layer respectively. The Top Layer is ideally expected to be empty and NBFCs in that Layer will be known as NBFCs-Top Layer.
- **6.** SPDs shall always remain in the Middle Layer of the regulatory structure.

B.2 Guidance Note on Operational Risk Management and Operational Resilience

7. SPDs may refer to the Operational Risk Management framework contained in 'Guidance Note on Operational Risk Management and Operational Resilience' dated April 30, 2024, as amended from time to time.

C. Definitions

- **8.** For the purpose of these Directions, unless the context otherwise requires:
 - (1) "Act" means the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934;
 - (2) "Dividend Payout Ratio" means the ratio between the amount of the dividend payable in a year and the net profit as per the audited financial statements for the financial year for which the dividend is proposed. Proposed dividend shall include both dividend on equity shares and compulsory convertible preference shares eligible for inclusion in Tier 1 capital. In case the net profit for the relevant period includes any exceptional and/or extra-ordinary profits/ income or the financial statements are qualified (including 'emphasis of matter') by the statutory auditor that indicates an overstatement of net profit, the same shall be reduced from net profits while determining the Dividend Payout Ratio.
 - (3) "Key Managerial Personnel" shall contain the definition as defined in Section 2(51) of Companies Act, 2013, as amended from time to time.
 - (4) "Senior Management" shall contain the definition as defined in 'Explanation' to Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013.
 - (5) "Subordinated Debt (SD)" means an instrument which is fully paid-up, unsecured, subordinate to the claims of other creditors, free of restrictive clauses, and shall not be redeemable at the initiative of the holder or without the consent of the Reserve Bank. SD instruments with an initial maturity of less than 5 years or with a remaining maturity of less than one year shall not be included as part of Tier 2 capital. SD instruments eligible to be reckoned as Tier 2 capital will be limited to 50 percent of Tier 1 capital. The issuance shall be in adherence to the Guidelines on SD Bonds (Tier 2 capital), as provided in **Annex I**. The SD instruments shall be subjected to progressive discount at the rates shown below:

Residual Maturity of Instruments	Rate of Discount (%)
Less than one year	100
One year and more but less than two years	80

Two years and more but less than three years	60
Three years and more but less than four years	40
Four years and more but less than five years	20

(6) "Tier 1 capital" means paid-up capital, statutory reserves and other disclosed free reserves. Investment in subsidiaries (where applicable), intangible assets, losses in current accounting period, deferred tax asset and losses brought forward from previous accounting periods will be deducted from the Tier 1 capital.

Explanation: In case any SPD is having substantial interest/exposure (as defined for NBFCs) by way of loans and advances not related to business relationship in other Group companies, such amounts will be deducted from its Tier 1 capital.

Explanation: SPDs shall not be required to deduct a Right-of-Use (ROU) asset (created in terms of Ind AS 116-Leases) from Owned Fund, provided the underlying asset being taken on lease is a tangible asset.

- (7) Tier 2 capital includes the following:
 - (i) Undisclosed reserves and cumulative preference shares (other than those which are compulsorily convertible into equity). Cumulative preferential shares shall be fully paid-up and shall not contain clauses which permit redemption by the holder.

Note: Cumulative preference shares (prefs) will accumulate any dividend that is not paid when due and no dividends can be paid on ordinary shares until the entire backlog of unpaid dividends on cumulative prefs is cleared.

- (ii) Revaluation reserves discounted at a rate of fifty five percent.
- (iii) General provisions and loss reserves (to the extent these are not attributable to actual diminution in value or identifiable potential loss in any specific asset and are available to meet unexpected losses), up to a maximum of 1.25 percent of total risk weighted assets.
- (iv) Hybrid debt capital instruments, which combine certain characteristics of equity and debt.
- (v) Subordinated debt

- **9.** Words or expressions used but not defined herein and defined in the RBI Act shall have the same meaning as assigned to them in the RBI Act. Any other words or expressions not defined in the RBI Act or any of the Directions issued by the Bank, shall have the meanings respectively assigned to them under the Companies Act, 1956 or Companies Act, 2013 (Act 18 of 2013) as the case may be.
- **10.** Notwithstanding the applicability of Directions given above, the guidelines given in the following Directions, where not contradictory to these Directions, shall also be applicable *mutatis mutandis* to the Standalone Primary Dealers, based on the layer in which it is categorised.
 - (1) Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Companies Acquisition of Shareholding or Control) Directions, 2025
 - (2) Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Companies Governance)
 Directions, 2025
 - (3) Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Companies Managing Risks in Outsourcing) Directions, 2025
 - (4) Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Companies Know Your Customer) Directions, 2025
- **11.** The provisions of these Directions shall be in addition to, and not in derogation of the provisions of any other laws, rules, regulations, or directions, for the time being in force.

Chapter II – Registration

A. Registration with the Reserve Bank

12. In exercise of the powers conferred under clause (b) of sub-section (1) of section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (Act 2 of 1934) and all the powers enabling it in that behalf, the Bank, hereby specifies ten crore rupees as the net owned fund (NOF) required for a non-banking financial company to commence or carry on the business of non-banking financial institution, except wherever otherwise a specific requirement as to NOF is prescribed by the Bank. Authorisation to act as a Standalone Primary Dealer is subject to the NBFC fulfilling the eligibility conditions as prescribed by Internal Debt Management Department of the Bank from time to time.

B. Investment from FATF non-compliant jurisdictions

13. Investments in SPDs from FATF non-compliant jurisdictions shall not be treated at par with that from the compliant jurisdictions. New investors from or through non-compliant FATF jurisdictions, whether in existing SPDs or in companies seeking Certification of Registration (CoR), should not be allowed to directly or indirectly acquire 'significant influence' in the investee, as defined in the applicable accounting standards. In other words, fresh investors (directly or indirectly) from such jurisdictions in aggregate should be less than the threshold of 20 per cent of the voting power (including potential voting power) of the SPD.

Note:

- (i) The Financial Action Task Force (FATF) periodically identifies jurisdictions with weak measures to combat money laundering and terrorist financing (AML/CFT) in its following publications: i) High-Risk Jurisdictions subject to a Call for Action, and ii) Jurisdictions under Increased Monitoring. A jurisdiction, whose name does not appear in the two aforementioned lists, shall be referred to as a FATF compliant jurisdiction.
- (ii) Potential voting power could arise from instruments that are convertible into equity, other instruments with contingent voting rights, contractual arrangements, etc. that grant investors voting rights (including contingent voting rights) in the future. In such cases, it should be ensured that new investments from FATF non-compliant jurisdictions are less than both
 - (a) 20 percent of the existing voting powers and

- (b) 20 percent of existing and potential voting powers assuming those potential voting rights have materialised.
- **14.** Investors in existing SPDs holding their investments prior to the classification of the source or intermediate jurisdiction/s as FATF non-compliant, may continue with the investments or bring in additional investments as per extant regulations so as to support continuity of business in India.

Chapter III – Capital Funds and Capital Requirements

A. Capital Funds

15. Capital funds include Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital.

B. Minimum CRAR Ratio

16. SPDs are required to maintain a minimum Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio (CRAR) of 15 percent on an ongoing basis.

C. Measurement of Risk Weighted Assets

17. The details of credit risk weights for various on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet items and methodology of computing the risk weighted assets for the credit risk is given below.

D. Capital Adequacy for Credit Risk

18. Credit risk is defined as the risk that a party to a contractual agreement or transaction will be unable to meet its obligations or will default on commitments.

D.1 Risk weights for calculation of CRAR

(1) On-Balance Sheet Assets

19. All the on-balance sheet items are assigned percentage weights as per degree of credit risk. The value of each asset/item is to be multiplied by the relevant risk weight to arrive at risk adjusted value of the asset, as detailed below. The aggregate of the risk weighted assets will be taken into account for reckoning the minimum capital ratio.

	Nature of asset/item			
		weight		
(i)	Cash balances and balances in Current Account with RBI	0		
(ii)	Amounts lent in call/notice money market/ other money market instruments of banks/ Financial Institutions (FIs) including Certificate of Deposits (CDs) and balances in Current account with banks	20		
(iii)	Investments			

	(a)	Government securities/Approved securities guaranteed by	0
		Central/State Governments [other than at (e) below]	
	(b)	Fixed Deposits, Bonds of banks and FIs	20
	(c)	Bonds issued by banks/FIs as Tier 2 capital	100
	(d)	Shares of all Companies and debentures/bonds/	@
		Commercial Paper of Companies other than in (b) above/	
		units of mutual funds	
	(e)	Securities of Public Sector Undertakings guaranteed by	20
		Government but issued outside the market borrowing	
		programme	
	(f)	Securities of and other claims on PDs	100
	(g)	Subordinated debts issued by other PDs	100
(iv)	Curr	ent assets	
	(a)	Loans to staff	100
	(b)	Other secured loans and advances considered good	100
	(c)	Others (to be specified)	100
(v)	Fixed	d Assets(net of depreciation)	
	(a)	Assets leased out (net book value)	100
	(b)	Fixed Assets	100
(vi)	Othe	er assets	
	(a)	Income tax deducted at source (net of provision)	0
	(b)	Advance tax paid (net of provision)	0
	(c)	Interest accrued on Government securities	0
	(d)	Others (ROU assets)	100
		Others (to be specified and risk weight indicated as	X
		per counter party)	

Notes:	(1)	Netting shall be done only in respect of assets where provisions for				
		depreciation or for bad and doubtful debts have been made.				
	(2)	Assets which have been deducted from capital fund, shall have a risk				
		weight of `zero'.				
	(3)	The PDs may net off the Current Liabilities and Provisions from the				
		Current Assets, Loans and Advances in their Balance Sheet, as the				
		Balance Sheet is drawn up as per the format prescribed under the				
		Companies Act. For capital adequacy purposes, no such netting off				
		should be done except to the extent indicated above.				

[@] Risk weights to be assigned by SPDs to their investments in corporate bonds, to the rating of the bonds as under:

Short term instruments (bonds = 1 year maturity)

CARE	CRISIL	India	ICRA	Brickwor	SMERA	Risk
		Rating		k		weig
						ht
						(%)
CARE	CRISIL A1+	IND A1+	ICRA A1+	BWR	SMERA A1+	20
A1+				A1+		
CARE A1	CRISIL A1	IND A1	ICRA A1	BWR A1	SMERA A1	30
CARE A2	CRISIL A2	IND A2	ICRA A2	BWR A2	SMERA A2	50
CARE A3	CRISIL A3	IND A3	ICRA A3	BWR A3	SMERA A3	100
CARE	CRISIL	IND A4&D	ICRA	BWR	SMERA A4&D	150
A4&D	A4&D		A4&D	A4&D		
Unrated	Unrated	Unrated	Unrated	Unrated	Unrated	100

Long term instruments (bonds > 1 year maturity)

Rating	AAA	AA	Α	BBB	<u><</u> BB	Unrated
Risk	20	30	50	100	150	100
Weight						

(2) Off-Balance Sheet items

20. The credit risk exposure attached to off-Balance Sheet items has to be first calculated by multiplying the face value of each of the off-Balance Sheet items by

'credit conversion factor (CCF)' as indicated below. This will then have to be again multiplied by the weights attributable to the relevant counterparty as specified under on-balance sheet items.

	Nature of item	CCF			
		percentage			
(i)	Share/debenture/stock underwritten	50			
(iii)	Partly-paid shares/debentures/other securities and	100			
	actual devolvement				
(iii)	Notional Equity/Index position underlying the equity Derivatives *	100			
(iv)	Bills discounted/rediscounted	100			
(vi)	Other contingent liabilities/commitments like standby commitments	50			
	like standby facility with original maturity of over one year				
(vii)	ii) Similar contingent liabilities/ commitments with original maturity of				
	upto one year or which can be unconditionally cancelled at any				
	time				

^{*} For guidelines on calculation of notional positions underlying the equity derivatives, please refer to paragraphs 76 to 80 (Measurement of Market Risk) of these Directions.

Note: Cash margins/deposits should be deducted before applying the Conversion Factor

(i) Definitions and general terminology

- (a) Counterparty Credit Risk (CCR) is the risk that the counterparty to a transaction could default before the final settlement of the transaction's cash flows. An economic loss would occur if the transactions or portfolio of transactions with the counterparty has a positive economic value at the time of default. CCR creates a bilateral risk of loss: the market value of the transaction can be positive or negative to either counterparty to the transaction. The market value is uncertain and can vary over time with the movement of underlying market factors.
- (b) **Securities Financing Transactions (SFTs)** are transactions such as repurchase agreements, reverse repurchase agreements, security lending and borrowing and, collateralised borrowing and lending (CBLO), where the value of the

- transactions depends on market valuations and the transactions are often subject to margin agreements.
- (c) Current Exposure is the larger of zero, or the market value of a transaction or portfolio of transactions within a netting set with a counterparty that would be lost upon the default of the counterparty, assuming no recovery on the value of those transactions in bankruptcy. Current exposure is often also called Replacement Cost (RC).
- (d) **Netting Set** is a group of transactions with a single counterparty that are subject to a legally enforceable bilateral netting arrangement and for which netting is recognised for regulatory capital purposes. Each transaction that is not subject to a legally enforceable bilateral netting arrangement that is recognised for regulatory capital purposes should be interpreted as its own netting set for the purpose of these rules. Cross-Product Netting, i.e. inclusion of transactions of different product categories (OTC derivative transactions and repo /reverse repo) within the same netting set, is not permitted.

(3) Interest Rate Contracts

(i) General

- **21.** The total risk weight for Interest Rate Derivative Contracts should be calculated by means of a two-step process:
- (a) Compute counterparty credit exposure by converting the notional amount of the transaction into a credit equivalent amount by applying the current exposure method and
- (b) The resulting credit equivalent amount is multiplied by the risk weight applicable to the counterparty or the type of asset, whichever is higher.

(ii) Current Exposure Method (used for measuring capital charge for default risk)

22. The credit equivalent amount of interest rate derivative contracts calculated using the current exposure method is the sum of current exposure and potential future exposure of these contracts.

- **23.** While computing the credit exposure SPDs may exclude 'sold options' that are outside netting and margin agreements, provided the entire premium / fee or any other form of income is received / realised.
- **24.** Current exposure is defined as the sum of the positive mark-to-market value of these contracts. The Current Exposure Method requires periodical calculation of the current exposure by marking these contracts to market, thus capturing the current exposure.

Note - In case of bilateral netting arrangement, refer to the definition as specified in paragraph D.1 (2)(c) above.

25. Potential future exposure is determined by multiplying the notional principal amount of each of these contracts, irrespective of whether the contract has a zero, positive or negative mark-to-market value, by the relevant add-on factor indicated below according to the nature and residual maturity of the instrument.

Table 1: Credit Conversion Factor (CCF) for Interest Rate Derivative Contracts

Residual Maturity	CCF (%)
	Interest Rate Derivative
	Contracts
One year or less	0.50
Over one year to five years	1.00
Over five years	3.00

- **26.** For contracts with multiple exchanges of principal, the add-on factors are to be multiplied by the number of remaining payments in the contract.
- 27. For contracts that are structured to settle outstanding exposure following specified payment dates and where the terms are reset such that the market value of the contract is zero on these specified dates, the residual maturity would be set equal to the time until the next reset date. However, in the case of interest rate contracts which have residual maturities of more than one year and meet the above criteria, the CCF or add-on factor is subject to a floor of 1.0 per cent.

- **28.** No potential future exposure would be calculated for single currency floating / floating interest rate swaps; the credit exposure on these contracts would be evaluated solely on the basis of their mark-to-market value.
- 29. Potential future exposures should be based on 'effective' rather than 'apparent notional amounts'. In the event that the 'stated notional amount' is leveraged or enhanced by the structure of the transaction, PDs must use the 'effective notional amount' when determining potential future exposure. For example, a stated notional amount of ₹5 crore with payments based on an internal rate of two times the applicable rate would have an effective notional amount of ₹10 crore.
- **30.** When effective bilateral netting contracts as specified in paragraph D.1 (5)(v)(b) are in place, current exposure i.e. replacement cost will be the net replacement cost and the potential future exposure i.e. add-on will be A_{Net} as calculated below:
 - (1) Credit exposure on bilaterally netted forward transactions will be calculated as the sum of the net mark-to-market replacement cost, if positive, plus an add-on based on the notional underlying principal. The add-on for netted transactions (A_{Net}) will equal the weighted average of the gross add-on (A_{Gross}) and the gross add-on adjusted by the ratio of net current replacement cost to gross current replacement cost (NGR).

This is expressed through the following formula:

$$A_{Net} = 0.4 * A_{Gross} + 0.6 * NGR * A_{Gross}$$

where:

NGR = level of net replacement cost / level of gross replacement cost for transactions subject to legally enforceable netting agreements.

Note: PDs must calculate NGR on a counterparty by counterparty basis for all transactions that are subject to legally enforceable netting agreements.

A_{Gross} = sum of individual add-on amounts (calculated by multiplying the notional principal amount by the appropriate add-on factors set out in Table 1 under paragraph b (ii) and Table under paragraph 54 and Table 3 under paragraph 5.4.2 & Table 4 under paragraph 5.5.2 of the Annex to <u>circular no. IDMD.PCD.No.2301/14.03.04/2011-12 dated November 30, 2011</u> on Guidelines on Capital Adequacy and Exposure Norms for Credit Default

- Swaps (CDS), as amended from time to time) of all transactions subject to legally enforceable netting agreements with one counterparty.
- (2) For the purposes of calculating potential future exposure to a netting counterparty for forward foreign exchange contracts and other similar contracts in which the notional principal amount is equivalent to cash flows, the notional principal is defined as the net receipts falling due on each value date in each currency. The reason for this is that offsetting contracts in the same currency maturing on the same date will have lower potential future exposure as well as lower current exposure.

(4) Capital charge for repo/reverse repo transactions:

31. The repo-style transactions should attract capital charge for Counterparty credit risk (CCR), in addition to the credit risk and market risk. The CCR is defined as the risk of default by the counterparty in a repo-style transaction, resulting in non-delivery of the security lent/pledged/sold or non-repayment of the cash.

(i) Treatment in the books of the borrower of funds:

- **32.** Where a PD has borrowed funds by selling / lending or posting, as collateral, of securities, the 'Exposure' will be an off-balance sheet exposure equal to the 'market value' of the securities sold/lent as scaled up after applying appropriate haircut as detailed in paragraph 41 to 44 below. The 'off-balance sheet exposure' will be converted into 'on-balance sheet' equivalent by applying a credit conversion factor of 100 per cent.
- **33.** The amount of money received will be treated as collateral for the securities lent/sold/pledged. Since the collateral is cash, the haircut for it would be zero.
- **34.** The credit equivalent amount arrived at paragraph 32 above, net of amount of cash collateral, will attract a risk weight as applicable to the counterparty.
- **35.** As the securities will come back to the books of the borrowing PD after the repo period, it will continue to maintain the capital for the credit risk in the securities in the cases where the securities involved in repo are held under HTM category, and capital for market risk in cases where the securities are held under HFT category. The capital charge for credit risk / specific risk would be determined according to the credit rating

of the issuer of the security. In the case of Government securities, the capital charge for credit / specific risk will be 'zero'.

(ii) Treatment in the books of the lender of funds:

- **36.** The amount lent will be treated as on-balance sheet/funded exposure on the counter party, collateralised by the securities accepted under the repo.
- **37.** The exposure, being cash, will receive a zero haircut.
- **38.** The collateral will be adjusted downwards/marked down as per applicable haircut.
- **39.** The amount of exposure reduced by the adjusted amount of collateral, will receive a risk weight as applicable to the counterparty, as it is an on-balance sheet exposure.
- **40.** The lending PD will not maintain any capital charge for the security received by it as collateral during the repo period, since such collateral does not enter its balance sheet but is only held as a bailee.

(iii) Haircuts

- **41.** PDs should use only the standard supervisory haircuts for both the exposure as well as the collateral.
- **42.** The standard supervisory haircuts (assuming daily mark-to-market, daily remargining and minimum holding period of five business-days), expressed as percentages, would be as furnished in Table below.
- **43.** The ratings indicated in Table 2 represent the ratings assigned by the domestic rating agencies. In the case of exposures toward debt securities issued by foreign central Governments and foreign corporates (if permitted), the haircut shall be based on ratings of the International rating agencies as indicated in Table 3.
- **44.** Sovereign will include the Bank and DICGC which are eligible for zero per cent risk weight.

Table 2: Standard Supervisory Haircuts for Sovereign and other securities which constitute Exposure and Collateral

SI	. No.	Issue Rating for Debt	Residual	Haircut (in			
		securities	Maturity (in	percentage)			
			years)				
Α	Secu	rities issued / guaranteed by the	Government of Ind	lia and issued by			
	the S	State Governments (Sovereign se	ecurities)				
	i	Rating not applicable – as	≤ 1 year	0.5			
		Government securities are not	>1 year and ≤ 5	2			
		currently rated in India	years				
			>5 years	4			
	Dom	estic debt securities other than t	hose indicated at I	tem No. A above			
	inclu	ding the securities guaranteed b	y Indian State Gov	ernments			
	ii	AAA TO AA	≤ 1 year	1			
		A1	> 1 year and ≤ 5	4			
			years				
			>5 years	8			
	iii	A to BBB	≤ 1 year	2			
		A2 and A3	> 1 year and ≤ 5	6			
			years				
			>5 years	12			
В	Cash	in the same currency	1	0			

Table 3: Standard Supervisory Haircut for Exposures and Collaterals which are obligations of foreign central sovereigns / foreign corporates

Issue rating for debt securities as assigned by international rating agencies	Residual Maturity	Sovereigns (%)	Other Issues (%)
AAA to AA / A1	<= 1 year	0.5	1
	>1 year and < or = 5 years	2	4

	>5 years	4	8
A to BBB / A2 / A3 and	<= 1 year	1	2
Unrated Bank Securities	>1 year and < or =	3	6
	5 years		
	>5 years	6	12

(1) Where the collateral is a basket of assets, the haircut on the basket will be,

Where a_i is the weight of the asset (as measured by the amount/value of the asset in units of currency) in the basket and H_i, the haircut applicable to that asset.

- (2) Adjustment for non-daily mark-to-market or remargining:
- (a) For repo style transactions, standalone PDs should use minimum holing period of five business days with daily remargining.
- (b) In case a transaction has different minimum holding period or margining frequency different from daily margining assumed, the applicable haircut for the transaction will also need to be adjusted by scaling up/down the haircut for 10 business days with daily margining indicated in Table 2 and 3 using the formula given in (3) below.
- (3) Formula for adjustment for different holding periods and / or non-daily mark-to-market or remargining:

Adjustment for the variation in holding period and margining / mark-to-market, as indicated in paragraph (2) above will be done as per the following formula:

$$H = H_{10} \sqrt{\frac{N_r + (T_M - 1)}{10}}$$

Where:

H = haircut

H₁₀ = 10-business-day standard supervisory haircut for instrument

 N_R = actual number of business days between remargining for capital market transactions or revaluation for secured transactions T_M = minimum holding period for the type of transaction

(iv) Calculation of capital requirement

45. The exposure amount after risk mitigation is calculated as follows:

$$E^* = max \{0, [E x (1 + H_e) - C x (1 - H_c - H_{fx})]\}$$

where:

 E^* = the exposure value after risk mitigation.

E = current value of the exposure for which the collateral qualifies as a risk mitigant.

H_e = haircut appropriate to the exposure.

C = the current value of the collateral received.

 H_c = haircut appropriate to the collateral.

 H_{fx} = haircut appropriate for currency mismatch between the collateral and exposure.

The exposure amount after risk mitigation (i.e., E*) will be multiplied by the risk weight of the counterparty to obtain the risk-weighted asset amount for the collateralised transaction.

46. The formula in paragraph 45 above will be adapted as follows to calculate the capital requirements for transactions with bilateral netting agreements. The bilateral netting agreements must meet the requirements set out in paragraph 53.

E* = max {0,
$$[(\Sigma(E) - \Sigma(C)) + \Sigma (Es x Hs) + \Sigma (Efx x Hfx)]$$
} where:

E* = the exposure value after risk mitigation

E = current value of the exposure

C = the value of the collateral received

Es = absolute value of the net position in a given security

Hs = haircut appropriate to Es

Efx = absolute value of the net position in a currency different from the settlement currency

Hfx = haircut appropriate for currency mismatch

47. The intention here is to obtain a net exposure amount after netting of the exposures and collateral and have an add-on amount reflecting possible price changes for the securities involved in the transactions and for foreign exchange risk if any. The net long or short position of each security included in the netting agreement will be multiplied by the appropriate haircut. All other rules regarding the

calculation of haircuts stated in paragraphs 41 to 46 equivalently apply for PDs using bilateral netting agreements for repo-style transactions.

(5) Capital requirements for exposures to Central Counterparties (CCPs)

(i) Definitions

- (a) A central counterparty (CCP) is a clearing house that interposes itself between counterparties to contracts traded in one or more financial markets, becoming the buyer to every seller and the seller to every buyer and thereby ensuring the future performance of open contracts. A CCP becomes counterparty to trades with market participants through novation, an open offer system, or another legally binding arrangement. For the purposes of the capital framework, a CCP is a financial institution.
- (b) A qualifying central counterparty (QCCP) is an entity that is licensed to operate as a CCP (including a license granted by way of confirming an exemption), and is permitted by the appropriate regulator / overseer with respect to the products offered. This is subject to the provision that the CCP is based and prudentially supervised in a jurisdiction where the relevant regulator/overseer has established, and publicly indicated that it applies to the CCP on an ongoing basis, domestic rules and regulations that are consistent with the CPSS-IOSCO Principles for Financial Market Infrastructures.
- (c) A clearing member is a member of, or a direct participant in, a CCP that is entitled to enter into a transaction with the CCP, regardless of whether it enters into trades with a CCP for its own hedging, investment or speculative purposes or whether it also enters into trades as a financial intermediary between the CCP and other market participants.

Note: For the purposes of these guidelines, where a CCP has a link to a second CCP, that second CCP is to be treated as a clearing member of the first CCP. Whether the second CCP's collateral contribution to the first CCP is treated as initial margin or a default fund contribution will depend upon the legal arrangement between the CCPs. In such cases, if any, RBI should be consulted for determining the treatment of this initial margin and default fund contributions.

- (d) A **client** is a party to a transaction with a CCP through either a clearing member acting as a financial intermediary, or a clearing member guaranteeing the performance of the client to the CCP.
- (e) Initial margin means a clearing member's or client's funded collateral posted to the CCP to mitigate the potential future exposure of the CCP to the clearing member arising from the possible future change in the value of their transactions. For the purposes of these guidelines, initial margin does not include contributions to a CCP for mutualised loss sharing arrangements (i.e. in case a CCP uses initial margin to mutualise losses among the clearing members, it will be treated as a default fund exposure).
- (f) **Variation margin** means a clearing member's or client's funded collateral posted on a daily or intraday basis to a CCP based upon price movements of their transactions.
- (g) Trade exposures include the current and potential future exposure of a clearing member or a client to a CCP arising from OTC derivatives, exchange traded derivatives transactions or SFTs, as well as initial margin. It also includes cash transactions routed through a CCP.
 - **Note**: For the purposes of this definition, the current exposure of a clearing member includes the variation margin due to the clearing member but not yet received.
- (h) **Default funds**, also known as clearing deposits or guarantee fund contributions (or any other names), are clearing members' funded or unfunded contributions towards, or underwriting of, a CCP's mutualised loss sharing arrangements. The description given by a CCP to its mutualised loss sharing arrangements is not determinative of their status as a default fund; rather, the substance of such arrangements will govern their status.
- (i) **Offsetting transaction** means the transaction leg between the clearing member and the CCP when the clearing member acts on behalf of a client (e.g. when a clearing member clears or novates a client's trade).

(ii) Scope of Application

(a) Exposures to central counterparties arising from OTC derivatives transactions, exchange traded derivatives transactions, securities financing

- transactions (SFTs) and the settlement of cash transactions, will be subject to the counterparty credit risk treatment as indicted in this paragraph below.
- (b) When the clearing member-to-client leg of a transaction is conducted under a bilateral agreement, both the client PD and the clearing member are to capitalise that transaction.
- (c) For the purpose of capital adequacy framework, CCPs will be considered as financial institution and a standalone PD's investments in the capital of CCPs should not exceed 10% of its capital funds, but after all applicable deductions or any other limit as may be prescribed from time to time.
- (d) Capital requirements will be dependent on the nature of CCPs viz. Qualifying CCPs (QCCPs) and non-Qualifying CCPs.
 - (1) Regardless of whether a CCP is classified as a QCCP or not, a standalone PD should have the responsibility to ensure that it maintains adequate capital for its exposures. A standalone PD should consider whether it might need to hold capital in excess of the minimum capital requirements if, for example, (i) its dealings with a CCP give rise to more risky exposures or (ii) where, given the context of that PD's dealings, it is unclear that the CCP meets the definition of a QCCP.
 - (2) Standalone PDs may be required to hold additional capital against their exposures to QCCPs, if in the opinion of RBI, it is necessary to do so.
 - (3) Where the standalone PD is acting as a clearing member, the PD should assess through appropriate scenario analysis and stress testing whether the level of capital held against exposures to a CCP adequately addresses the inherent risks of those transactions. This assessment will include potential future or contingent exposures resulting from future drawings on default fund commitments, and/or from secondary commitments, if permitted, to take over or replace offsetting transactions from clients of another clearing member in case of this clearing member defaulting or becoming insolvent.
 - (4) A standalone PD must monitor and report to senior management and the appropriate committee of the Board (e.g. Risk Management Committee) on a regular basis (quarterly or at more frequent intervals) all of its exposures to CCPs, including exposures arising from trading through a

- CCP and exposures arising from CCP membership obligations such as default fund contributions.
- (5) Unless the Bank requires otherwise, the trades with a former QCCP shall continue to be capitalised as though they are with a QCCP for a period not exceeding three months from the date it ceases to qualify as a QCCP. After that time, the PD's exposures with such a central counterparty must be capitalised according to rules applicable for non-QCCP.

(iii) Exposures to Qualifying CCPs (QCCPs)

(a) Trade exposures:

Clearing member exposures to QCCPs

- (1) Where a standalone PD acts as a clearing member of a QCCP for its own purposes, a risk weight of 2% must be applied to the standalone PD's trade exposure to the QCCP.
- (2) The exposure amount for trade exposure in respect of OTC derivatives transactions, exchange traded derivatives transactions and SFTs should be calculated in accordance with the Current Exposure Method (CEM) for derivatives as detailed in **paragraphs** 22 to 30 above and rules for capital adequacy for Repo / Reverse Repo-style transactions prescribed in **paragraph 31 to 47** above.
- (3) Where settlement is legally enforceable on a net basis in an event of default and regardless of whether the counterparty is insolvent or bankrupt, the total replacement cost of all contracts relevant to the trade exposure determination can be calculated as a net replacement cost if the applicable close-out netting sets meet the requirements given below **in paragraph** 53 of these guidelines.
- (4) Standalone PDs should have to demonstrate that the conditions mentioned in **paragraph** 53 of the guidelines are fulfilled on a regular basis by obtaining independent and reasoned legal opinion as regards legal certainty of netting of exposures to QCCPs. Standalone PDs shall also obtain from such QCCPs, the legal opinion taken by the QCCPs on the legal certainty of their major activities such as settlement finality, netting, collateral arrangements (including margin arrangements); default procedures etc.

Clearing member exposures to clients

48. The clearing member will always capitalise its exposure to clients as bilateral trades, irrespective of whether the clearing member guarantees the trade or acts as an intermediary between the client and the QCCP. However, to recognize the shorter close-out period for cleared transactions, clearing members can capitalize the exposure to their clients by multiplying the exposure at default by a scalar which is not less than 0.71.

Client PD exposures to clearing member

- **49.** Where a PD is a client of the clearing member, and enters into a transaction with the clearing member acting as a financial intermediary (i.e. the clearing member completes an offsetting transaction with a QCCP), the client's exposures to the clearing member will receive the treatment applicable to the paragraph "clearing member exposure to QCCPs" of this section (mentioned above), if following conditions are met:
- (a) The offsetting transactions are identified by the QCCP as client transactions and collateral to support them is held by the QCCP and / or the clearing member, as applicable, under arrangements that prevent any losses to the client due to:
 - (i) the default or insolvency of the clearing member;
 - (ii) the default or insolvency of the clearing member's other clients; and
 - (iii) the joint default or insolvency of the clearing member and any of its other clients. The client PD must obtain an independent, written and reasoned legal opinion that concludes that, in the event of legal challenge, the relevant courts and administrative authorities would find that the client would bear no losses on account of the insolvency of an intermediary under the relevant law, including:
 - the law(s) applicable to client PD, clearing member and QCCP;
 - the law of the jurisdiction(s) of the foreign countries in which the client PD,
 clearing member or QCCP are located
 - the law that governs the individual transactions and collateral; and
 - the law that governs any contract or agreement necessary to meet this condition (a).
- (b) Relevant laws, regulations, rules, contractual, or administrative arrangements provide that the offsetting transactions with the defaulted or insolvent clearing member are highly likely to continue to be indirectly transacted through the QCCP,

or by the QCCP, should the clearing member default or become insolvent. In such circumstances, the client positions and collateral with the QCCP will be transferred at the market value unless the client requests to close out the position at the market value. In this context, it is clarified that if relevant laws, regulations, rules, contractual or administrative agreements provide that trades are highly likely to be ported, this condition can be considered to be met. If there is a clear precedent for transactions being ported at a QCCP and intention of the participants is to continue this practice, then these factors should be considered while assessing if trades are highly likely to be ported. The fact that QCCP documentation does not prohibit client trades from being ported is not sufficient to conclude that they are highly likely to be ported. Other evidence such as the criteria mentioned in this paragraph is necessary to make this claim.

- **50.** Where a client is not protected from losses in the case that the clearing member and another client of the clearing member jointly default or become jointly insolvent, but all other conditions mentioned above are met and the concerned CCP is a QCCP, a risk weight of 4% will apply to the client's exposure to the clearing member.
- **51.** Where the client PD does not meet the requirements in the above paragraphs, the PD should be required to capitalize its exposure to the clearing member as a bilateral trade.
- **52.** In case a standalone PD as a client enters into a transaction with the QCCP with a clearing member guaranteeing its performance, the capital requirements for client PD should be calculated as if client PD has entered into a bilateral contract with the clearing member.

Treatment of posted collateral

(i) In all cases, any assets or collateral posted must, from the perspective of the PD posting such collateral, receive the risk weights that otherwise applies to such assets or collateral under the capital adequacy framework, regardless of the fact that such assets have been posted as collateral. Where assets or collateral of a clearing member or client are posted with a QCCP or a clearing member and are not held in a bankruptcy remote manner, the PD posting such assets or collateral must also recognise credit risk based upon the assets or collateral being exposed to risk of loss based on the creditworthiness of the entity holding such assets or collateral.

Note: Where the entity holding such assets or collateral is the QCCP, a risk-weight of 2% applies to collateral included in the definition of trade exposures. The relevant risk-weight of the QCCP will apply to assets or collateral posted for other purposes.

(ii) Collateral posted by the clearing member (including cash, securities, other pledged assets, and excess initial or variation margin, also called over-collateralisation), that is held by a custodian, and is bankruptcy remote from the QCCP, is not subject to a capital requirement for counterparty credit risk exposure to such bankruptcy remote custodian.

Note: In this paragraph, the word "custodian" may include a trustee, agent, pledgee, secured creditor or any other person that holds property in a way that does not give such person a beneficial interest in such property and will not result in such property being subject to legally-enforceable claims by such persons, creditors, or to a court ordered stay of the return of such property, should such person become insolvent or bankrupt.

- (iii) Collateral posted by a client, that is held by a custodian, and is bankruptcy remote from the QCCP, the clearing member and other clients, is not subject to a capital requirement for counterparty credit risk. If the collateral is held at the QCCP on a client's behalf and is not held on a bankruptcy remote basis, a 2% risk weight will be applied to the collateral if the conditions established in paragraph on "client PD exposures to clearing members" of this section are met (mentioned above). A risk weight of 4% will be made applicable if a client is not protected from losses in the case that the clearing member and another client of the clearing member jointly default or become jointly insolvent, but all other conditions mentioned in paragraph on "client PD exposures to clearing members" of this section are met.
- (iv) If a clearing member collects collateral from a client for client cleared trades and this collateral is passed on to the QCCP, the clearing member may recognize this collateral for both the QCCP clearing member leg and the clearing member client leg of the client cleared trade. Therefore, initial

margins (IMs) as posted by clients to clearing members mitigate the exposure the clearing member has against these clients.

(b) Default Fund Exposures to QCCPs

- (i) Where a default fund is shared between products or types of business with settlement risk only (e.g. equities and bonds) and products or types of business which give rise to counterparty credit risk i.e., OTC derivatives, exchange traded derivatives or SFTs, all of the default fund contributions will receive the risk weight determined according to the formulae and methodology set forth below, without apportioning to different classes or types of business or products.
- (ii) However, where the default fund contributions from clearing members are segregated by product types and only accessible for specific product types, the capital requirements for those default fund exposures determined according to the formulae and methodology set forth below must be calculated for each specific product giving rise to counterparty credit risk. In case the QCCP's prefunded own resources are shared among product types, the QCCP will have to allocate those funds to each of the calculations, in proportion to the respective product specific exposure i.e. exposure at default.
- (iii) Clearing member PDs are required to capitalise their exposures arising from default fund contributions to a qualifying CCP by applying the following formula:

Clearing member PDs are required to apply a risk-weight of 1111% to their default fund exposures to the qualifying CCP, subject to an overall cap on the risk-weighted assets from all its exposures to the QCCP (i.e. including trade exposures) equal to 20% of the trade exposures to the QCCP. More specifically, the Risk Weighted Assets (RWA) for both PD *i*'s trade and default fund exposures to each QCCP are equal to:

```
Min {(2% * TEi + 1111% * DFi); (20% * TEi)} Where:
```

- -TEi is PD i's trade exposure to the QCCP; and
- -DFi is PD i's pre-funded contribution to the QCCP's default fund.

Note: The 2% risk weight on trade exposures does not apply additionally, as it is included in the equation.

(iv) Exposures to Non-qualifying CCPs

- (a) PDs must apply the Standardised Approach for credit risk according to the category of the counterparty, to their trade exposure to a non-qualifying CCP.
- (b) PDs must apply a risk weight of 1111% to their default fund contributions to a nonqualifying CCP.
- (c) For the purposes of this paragraph, the default fund contributions of such PDs will include both the funded and the unfunded contributions which are liable to be paid should the CCP so require. Where there is a liability for unfunded contributions (i.e. unlimited binding commitments) the Bank will determine the amount of unfunded commitments to which an 1111% risk weight should apply.

(v) Requirements for Recognition of Net Replacement Cost in Close-out Netting Sets

(a) For repo-style transactions

- **53.** The effects of bilateral netting agreements covering repo-style transactions will be recognised on a counterparty-by-counterparty basis if the agreements are legally enforceable in each relevant jurisdiction upon the occurrence of an event of default and regardless of whether the counterparty is insolvent or bankrupt. In addition, netting agreements must:
- (a) provide the non-defaulting party the right to terminate and close-out in a timely manner all transactions under the agreement upon an event of default, including in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the counterparty;
- (b) provide for the netting of gains and losses on transactions (including the value of any collateral) terminated and closed out under it so that a single net amount is owed by one party to the other;
- (c) allow for the prompt liquidation or setoff of collateral upon the event of default; and
- (d) be, together with the rights arising from the provisions required in (a) to (c) above, legally enforceable in each relevant jurisdiction upon the occurrence of an event of default and regardless of the counterparty's insolvency or bankruptcy.

(b) For Derivatives transactions

- (a) PDs shall net transactions subject to novation under which any obligation between a PD and its counterparty to deliver a given currency on a given value date is automatically amalgamated with all other obligations for the same currency and value date, legally substituting one single amount for the previous gross obligations.
- (b) PDs may also net transactions subject to any legally valid form of bilateral netting not covered in (a), including other forms of novation.
- (c) In both cases (a) and (b), a PD will need to satisfy that it has:
 - (i) A netting contract or agreement with the counterparty which creates a single legal obligation, covering all included transactions, such that the PD would have either a claim to receive or obligation to pay only the net sum of the positive and negative mark-to-market values of included individual transactions in the event a counterparty fails to perform due to any of the following: default, bankruptcy, liquidation or similar circumstances;
 - (ii) Written and reasoned legal opinions that, in the event of a legal challenge, the relevant courts and administrative authorities would find the PD's exposure to be such a net amount under:
 - The law of the jurisdiction in which the counterparty is chartered and, if the foreign branch of a counterparty is involved, then also under the law of the jurisdiction in which the branch is located;
 - The law that governs the individual transactions; and
 - The law that governs any contract or agreement necessary to effect the netting.
 - (iii) Procedures in place to ensure that the legal characteristics of netting arrangements are kept under review in the light of possible changes in relevant law.
- (d) Contracts containing walkaway clauses will not be eligible for netting for the purpose of calculating capital requirements under these guidelines. A walkaway clause is a provision which permits a non-defaulting counterparty to make only limited payments or no payment at all, to the estate of a defaulter, even if the defaulter is a net creditor.

(6) Foreign Exchange (FE) Contracts

54. Like the interest rate contracts, the outstanding contracts should be first multiplied by a conversion factor as shown below:

CCF for Market-Related Off-Balance Sheet Items Residual	CCF (%)		
Maturity			
Exchange Rate Contracts			
One year or less	2.00		
Over one year to five years	10.00		
Over five years	15.00		

^{55.} This will then have to be again multiplied by the weights attributable to the relevant counterparty as specified above.

56. When effective bilateral netting contracts as specified in paragraph D.1 (5)(v)(b) are in place, the computation of credit exposure will be as detailed in paragraph 30.

(7) Single Name Credit Default Swaps (CDS) on Corporate Bonds

57. For CDS related transactions, standalone PDs shall follow the capital adequacy guidelines issued vide circular IDMD. PCD.No.2301/14.03.04/2011-12 dated November 30, 2011 and as updated from time to time. For the purpose of paragraph 5.4.2 of Annex to the above-mentioned circular, the potential future exposure (i.e., add-on) for protection seller, where the CDS positions are outside netting and margin agreements, will be capped to the amount of unpaid premia. SPDs have the option to remove such CDS positions from their legal netting sets and treat them as individual unmargined transactions in order to apply the cap.

(8) Capital charge for Collateralised OTC derivatives transactions

58. The calculation of the counterparty credit risk charge for an individual contract will be as follows:

counterparty charge = $[max(0,(RC + add-on) - CA)] \times r \times 15\%$ where:

RC = the replacement cost,

add-on = the amount for potential future exposure calculated according to paragraph D.1 (3)(ii) ,

CA = the volatility adjusted collateral amount under the comprehensive approach prescribed in paragraphs D.1 (4)(iii) and D.1 (4)(iv) or zero if no eligible collateral is applied to the transaction,

and r =the risk weight of the counterparty.

59. When effective bilateral netting contracts are in place, RC will be the net replacement cost and the add-on will be ANet as calculated according to paragraph D.1 (3)(ii) . The haircut for currency risk (Hfx) should be applied when there is a mismatch between the collateral currency and the settlement currency. Even in the case where there are more than two currencies involved in the exposure, collateral and settlement currency, a single haircut assuming a 10-business day holding period scaled up as necessary depending on the frequency of mark-to-market will be applied.

E. Measurement of Market Risk

- **60.** The procedure for calculating capital charge for market risk is given below.
- **61.** Market risk is defined as the risk of loss arising from movements in market prices or rates away from the rates or prices set out in a transaction or agreement. The objective in introducing the capital adequacy for market risk is to provide an explicit capital cushion for the price risk to which the PDs are exposed to in their portfolio.
- **62.** The capital charge for market risks should be worked out by the standardised approach and the internal risk management framework based Value at Risk (VaR) model. The capital charge for market risk to be provided by PDs would be higher of the two requirements. However, where price data is not available for specific category of assets, PDs shall follow the standardised approach for computation of market risk. In such a situation, PDs should disclose to RBI, details of such assets and ensure that consistency of approach is followed. PDs should obtain RBI's permission before excluding any category of asset for calculations of market risk. PDs would normally consider the instruments of the nature of fixed deposits, commercial bills etc., for this purpose. Such items will be held in the books till maturity and any diminution in the value will have to be provided for in the books.

Note: In case of underwriting commitments, following points should be adhered to:

- (1) In case of devolvement of underwriting commitment for G-Sec, 100% of the devolved amount would qualify for the measurement of market risk.
- (2) In case of underwriting under merchant banking issues (other than G-Sec), where price has been committed/frozen at the time of underwriting, the commitment is to be treated as a contingent liability and 50% of the commitment should be included in the position for market risk. However, 100% of devolved position should be subjected to market risk measurement.
- **63.** The methodology for working out the capital charges for market risk on the portfolio is as below:

E.1 Standardized Approach

64. Capital charge will be the measure of risk arrived at in terms of paragraphs 65 to 82, summed arithmetically.

E.1.1 For Fixed Income Instruments

- **65.** Duration method shall continue to apply as hitherto. Under this, the price sensitivity of all interest rate positions viz., Dated securities, Treasury bills, Commercial papers, PSU/FI/Corporate Bonds, Special Bonds, Mutual Fund units and derivative instruments like IRS, FRA, IRF etc., including underwriting commitments/devolvement and other contingent liabilities having interest rate/equity risk will be captured.
- **66.** In duration method, the capital charge is the sum of four components namely:
 - a) the net short or long position in the whole trading book;
 - b) a small proportion of the matched positions in each time-band (the "vertical disallowance");
 - c) a larger proportion of the matched positions across different timebands (the "horizontal disallowance");and
 - d) a net charge for positions in options, where appropriate.

Note 1: Since short position in India is allowed only in derivatives and G-Sec, netting as indicated at (a) and the system of `disallowances' as at (b) and (c) above are applicable currently only to the PDs entering into FRAs / IRSs / exchange traded derivatives and G-Sec.

- **67.** However, under the duration method, PDs with the necessary capability may, with RBI's permission use a more accurate method of measuring all of their general market risks by calculating the price sensitivity of each position separately. PDs must select and use the method on a consistent basis and the system adopted will be subjected to monitoring by the RBI. The mechanics of this method are as follow:
 - first calculate the price sensitivity of all instruments in terms of a change in interest rates between 0.6 and 1.0 percentage points depending on the duration of the instrument (as per Table 1 given below);
 - (ii) slot the resulting sensitivity measures into a duration-based ladder with the thirteen time-bands set out in Table 1;
 - (iii) subject the lower of the long and short positions in each time-band to a 5% capital charge towards vertical disallowance designed to capture basis risk;
 - (iv) carry forward the net positions in each time-band for horizontal offsetting across the zones subject to the disallowances set out in Table 2.

Note 2: Points (iii) and (iv) above are applicable only where opposite positions exist as explained at Note 1 above.

Table 1				
Duration time-bands and assumed changes in yield (%)				
Zone 1				
0 to 1 month	1.00			
1 to 3 months	1.00			
3 to 6 months	1.00			
6 to 12 months	1.00			

Zone 2	
1 to 2 years	0.95
2 to 3 years	0.90
3 to 4 years	0.85
Zone 3	
4 to 5 years	0.85
5 to 7 years	0.80
7 to 10 years	0.75
10 to 15 years	0.70
15 to 20 years	0.65
Over 20 years	0.60

Table 2					
Horizonta	l disallowances				
Zones	Time-band	Within		Between	
		the zone	Betwee	zones 1 and 3	
			n adjacent		
			zones		
Zone 1	0 – month	40%	40%	100%	
	1 – 3 months				
	3 – 6 months				
	6 – 12 months				
Zone 2	1 – 2 years	30%			
	2 – 3 years				
	3 – 4 years				
Zone 3	4 – 5 years	30%			
	5 – 7 years				
	7 – 10 years				
	10 – 15 years				

The gross positions in each time-band will be subject to risk weighting as per the assumed change in yield set out in Table 1, with no further offsets.

E.1.2 Capital charge for interest rate derivatives

68. The measurement system shall include all interest rate derivatives and off balance-sheet instruments in the trading book which react to changes in interest rates, (e.g. FRAs, other forward contracts, bond futures, interest rate positions).

E.1.3 Calculation of positions

69. Derivatives shall be converted into positions in the relevant underlying and subjected to market risk charges as described above. In order to calculate the market risk as per the standardized approach described above, the amounts reported should be the market value of the principal amount of the underlying or of the notional underlying.

E.1.4 Futures and Forward Contracts (including FRAs)

70. These instruments are treated as a combination of a long and a short position in a notional government security. The maturity of a future contract or an FRA will be the period until delivery or exercise of the contract, plus - where applicable - the life of the underlying instrument. For example, a long position in a June three-month IRF taken in April is to be reported as a long position in a government security with a maturity of five months and a short position in a government security with a maturity of two months. Where a range of deliverable instruments may be delivered to fulfill the contract, the PD has flexibility to elect which deliverable security goes into the maturity or duration ladder but should take account of any conversion factor defined by the exchange. In the case of a future on a corporate bond index, positions will be included at the market value of the notional underlying portfolio of securities.

E.1.5 Swaps

71. Swaps will be treated as two notional positions in G-Sec with relevant maturities. For example, an IRS under which a PD is receiving floating rate interest and paying

fixed will be treated as a long position in a floating rate instrument of maturity equivalent to the period until the next interest fixing and a short position in a fixed-rate instrument of maturity equivalent to the residual life of the swap. For swaps that pay or receive a fixed or floating interest rate against some other reference price, e.g. a stock index, the interest rate component should be slotted into the appropriate re-pricing maturity category, with the equity component being included in the equity framework.

E.1.6 Calculation of capital charges

72. Allowable offsetting of matched positions -PDs may exclude from the interest rate maturity framework altogether (long and short positions, both actual and notional) in identical instruments with exactly the same issuer, coupon and maturity. A matched position in a future or forward and its corresponding underlying may also be fully offset, and thus excluded from the calculation. When the future or the forward comprises a range of deliverable instruments, offsetting of positions in the future or forward contract and its underlying is only permissible in cases where there is a readily identifiable underlying security which is most profitable for the trader with a short position to deliver. The leg representing the time to expiry of the future should, however, be taken into account. The price of this security, sometimes called the "cheapest-to-deliver", and the price of the future or forward contract should in such cases move in close alignment.

73. In addition, opposite positions in the same category of instruments can in certain circumstances be regarded as matched and allowed to offset fully. To qualify for this treatment the positions must relate to the same underlying instruments and be of the same nominal value. In addition:

- (i) For futures: offsetting positions in the notional or underlying instruments to which the futures contract relates must be for identical products and mature within seven days of each other;
- (ii) For swaps and FRAs: the reference rate (for floating rate positions) must be identical and the coupon closely matched (i.e. within 15 basis points); and

- (iii) For swaps, FRAs and forwards: the next interest fixing date or, for fixed coupon positions or forwards, the residual maturity must correspond within the following limits:
 - · less than one month hence: same day;
 - between one month and one year hence: within seven days; □ over one year hence: within thirty days.
- **74.** PDs with large swap books may use alternative formulae for these swaps to calculate the positions to be included in the duration ladder. One method would be to first convert the payments required by the swap into their present values. For that purpose, each payment shall be discounted using zero coupon yields, and a single net figure for the present value of the cash flows entered into the appropriate timeband using procedures that apply to zero (or low) coupon bonds; these figures should be slotted into the general market risk framework as set out earlier. An alternative method would be to calculate the sensitivity of the net present value implied by the change in yield used in the duration method and allocate these sensitivities into the time-bands set out in Table 1. Other methods which produce similar results could also be used. Such alternative treatments will, however, only be allowed if:
 - the supervisory authority is fully satisfied with the accuracy of the systems being used;
 - the positions calculated fully reflect the sensitivity of the cash flows to interest rate changes and are entered into the appropriate timebands;
- **75.** General market risk applies to positions in all derivative products in the same manner as for cash positions, subject only to an exemption for fully or very closely-matched positions in identical instruments as defined in above paragraphs. The various categories of instruments shall be slotted into the maturity ladder and treated according to the rules identified earlier.

E.2 Capital charge for equity positions

76. As per the circular IDMD.PDRS.26/03.64.00/2006-07 dated July 4, 2006 on "Diversification of PD Activities", SPDs have been allowed to calculate the capital charge for market risk on equity and equity derivatives using the Internal Models approach only.

E.2.1 Equity positions

77. This section sets out a minimum capital standard to cover the risk of holding or taking positions in equities by the PDs. It applies to long and short positions in all instruments that exhibit market behaviour similar to equities, but not to nonconvertible preference shares (which will be covered by the interest rate risk requirements). Long and short positions in the same issue shall be reported on a net basis. The instruments covered include equity shares, convertible securities that behave like equities, i.e., units of Mutual Funds and commitments to buy or sell equities. The equity or equity like positions including those arrived at in relation to equity /index derivatives as described in following sections shall be included in the duration ladder below one month.

E.2.2 Equity derivatives

- **78.** Equity derivatives and off balance-sheet positions which are affected by changes in equity prices should be included in the measurement system. This includes futures and swaps on both individual equities and on stock indices.
- **79.** The derivatives are to be converted into positions in the relevant underlying.

E.2.3 Calculation of positions

- **80.** In order to calculate the market risk as per the standardized approach for credit and market risk, positions in derivatives should be converted into notional equity positions:
 - futures and forward contracts relating to individual equities should in principle be reported at current market prices;
 - (2) futures relating to stock indices should be reported as the marked-tomarket value of the notional underlying equity portfolio;
 - (3) equity swaps are to be treated as two notional positions

E.3 Capital Charge for Foreign Exchange (FE) Position:

- **81.** Under the standardised approach, SPDs shall maintain a market risk capital charge of 15% for net open positions (limits or actual, whichever is higher) arising out of forex business with a risk weight of 100%. The net open position for foreign exchange exposures shall be calculated as per the methodology prescribed in Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Companies Prudential Norms on Capital Adequacy) Directions, 2025 (as amended from time to time) to the extent applicable to SPDs.
- **82.** Further, as SPDs have been permitted to raise resources under FCNR (B) loan route, subject to prescribed guidelines, they may end up holding open FE positions. Such open positions in equivalent rupees arrived at by marking to market at FEDAI rates will be subject to a flat market risk charge of 15 per cent and be part of the positions stated above.

E.4 Internal risk management framework based method

- **83.** The PDs should calculate the capital requirement based on their internal risk management framework based VaR model for market risk, as per the following minimum parameters:
 - (a) **VaR** must be computed on a daily basis at a 99th percentile, one-tailed confidence interval.
 - (b) An instantaneous price shock equivalent to a 15-day movement in prices is to be used, i.e. the minimum "holding period" will be fifteen trading days.
 - (c) Interest rate sensitivity of the entire portfolio should be captured on an integrated basis by including all fixed income securities like G-Sec, Corporate/PSU bonds, CPs and derivatives like IRS, FRAs, IRFs, etc., based on the mapping of the cash flows to work out the portfolio VaR. Wherever data for calculating volatilities is not available, PDs shall calculate the volatilities of such instruments using the G-Sec yield curve with appropriate spread. However, the details of such instruments and the spreads applied have to be reported and consistency of methodology should be ensured.

- (d) Instruments which are part of trading book, but found difficult to be subjected to measurement of market risk shall be applied a flat market risk measure of 15 per cent. These include units of Mutual Funds, unquoted equity, etc., and should be added arithmetically to the measure obtained under VaR in respect of other instruments.
- (e) Underwriting commitments as explained at the beginning of the Annex should also be mapped into the VaR framework for risk measurement purposes.
- (f) The unhedged FE position arising out of the foreign currency borrowings under FCNR (B) loans scheme would carry a market risk of 15 per cent as hitherto and the measure obtained will be added arithmetically to the VaR measure obtained for other instruments.
- (g) The choice of historical observation period (sample period) for calculating VaR will be constrained to a minimum length of one year and not less than 250 trading days. For PDs who use a weighting scheme or other methods for the historical observation period, the "effective" observation period must be at least one year (that is, the weighted average time lag of the individual observations cannot be less than 6 months).
- (h) The capital requirement will be the higher of:
 - a) the previous day's VaR number measured according to the above parameters specified in this section; and
 - b) the average of the daily VaR measures on each of the preceding **sixty** business days, multiplied by a multiplication factor prescribed by the RBI (**3.3** presently).
- (i) No particular type of model is prescribed. So long as the model used captures all the material risks run by the PDs, they will be free to use models, based for example, on variance-covariance matrices, historical simulations, Monte Carlo simulations or Extreme Value Theory (EVT), etc.
- (j) The criteria for use of internal model to measure market risk capital charge are given by Internal Debt Management Department of the Bank.

E.5 Capital Adequacy requirements

- **84.** The capital charge for credit risk and market risk as given above shall be maintained at all times.
- **85.** In calculating eligible capital, it will be necessary first to calculate the SPD's minimum capital requirement for credit risk, and thereafter its market risk requirement, to establish how much Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital is available to support market risk. Of the 15% capital charge for credit risk, at least 50% shall be met by Tier 1 capital, that is, the total of Tier 2 capital, if any, shall not exceed one hundred per cent of Tier 1 capital, at any point of time, for meeting the capital charge for credit risk.
- 86. Subordinated debt as Tier 2 capital shall not exceed 50 per cent of Tier 1 capital.
- 87. The total of Tier 2 capital shall not exceed 100% of Tier 1 capital.
- **88.** Eligible capital will be the sum of the whole of the SPD's Tier 1 capital, plus all of its Tier 2 capital under the limits imposed, as summarized above.
- **89.** The overall capital adequacy ratio will be calculated by establishing an explicit numerical link between the credit risk and the market risk factors, by multiplying the market risk capital charge with 6.67 i.e. the reciprocal of the minimum credit risk capital charge of 15 per cent.
- **90.** The resultant figure shall be added to the sum of risk weighted assets worked out for credit risk purpose. The numerator for calculating the overall ratio will be the SPD's total capital funds (Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital, after applicable deductions, if any). The calculation of capital charge is illustrated in Annex II

F. Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP)

91. SPDs are required to make a thorough internal assessment of the need for capital, commensurate with the risks in their business. This internal assessment shall be on similar lines as ICAAP prescribed for commercial banks under Pillar 2 (Reserve Bank of India (Commercial Banks – Prudential Norms on Capital Adequacy) Directions, 2025, as amended from time to time). While Pillar 2 capital will not be insisted upon, SPDs are required to make a realistic assessment of risks. Internal capital assessment shall factor in credit risk, market risk, operational risk and all other residual risks as per methodology to be determined internally. The methodology for internal assessment of capital shall be proportionate to the scale and complexity of operations

as per their Board approved policy. The objective of ICAAP is to ensure availability of adequate capital to support all risks in business as also to encourage SPDs to develop and use better internal risk management techniques for monitoring and managing their risks. This will facilitate an active dialogue between the supervisors and SPDs on the assessment of risks and monitoring as well as mitigation of the same.

G. Diversification of SPD Activities

- **92.** The guidelines on diversification of activities by SPDs shall be as contained in the Operational Guidelines for Primary Dealers issued vide <u>Master Direction IDMD.PDRD.01/03.64.00/2016-17 dated July 01, 2016</u> in addition to that prescribed in these directions.
- **93.** The capital charge for market risk (calculated as per provisions of these Directions) for the activities defined below shall not be more than 20 per cent of the Net Owned Fund (NOF) of the SPD as per the last audited balance sheet:
 - (i) Investment / trading in equity and equity derivatives
 - (ii) Investment in units of equity oriented mutual funds
 - (iii) Underwriting public issues of equity
 - (iv) Participation in Currency Futures Market
 - (v) Offering foreign exchange market-making facilities to users, as currently permitted to Category-I Authorized Dealers.
- **94.** SPDs shall calculate the capital charge for market risk on the stock positions/ underlying stock positions/units of equity oriented mutual funds using Internal Models (VaR based) as per the directions contained in **Annex VIII** of the Operational Guidelines for Primary Dealers issued vide <u>Master Direction IDMD.PDRD.01/03.64.00/2016-17 dated July 01, 2016</u>. As regards credit risk arising out of exposure in equity, equity derivatives and equity oriented mutual funds, SPDs shall calculate the capital charge as per the guidelines prescribed above.

Chapter IV – Sources and Application of Funds

A. Sources of funds

95. SPDs are permitted to borrow funds from call/ notice/ term money market, repo (including CBLO) market, Inter-Corporate Deposits, FCNR (B) loans, Commercial Paper and Non-Convertible Debentures. They are also eligible for liquidity support from the Bank.

A.1 Call/Notice Market

96. SPDs are allowed to borrow from call/ notice market, on an average in a 'reporting fortnight', up to 225 percent of their NOF as at the end March of the preceding financial year. They may lend up to 25 percent of their NOF in call/ notice money market, on an average in a 'reporting fortnight'. These limits on borrowing and lending are subject to periodic review by the Bank. SPDs are governed by the provisions of the <u>Master Direction- Reserve Bank of India (Call, Notice and Term Money Markets) Directions</u>, 2021 dated April 01, 2021.

A.2 Inter-Corporate Deposits (ICDs)

- **97.** ICDs may be raised by SPDs as per their funding needs. The SPDs shall put in place a Board approved policy for ICDs which takes due consideration of the associated risks and shall include the following general principles:
 - (1) The ICD borrowings shall in no case exceed 150 per cent of the NOF as at the end of March of the preceding financial year.
 - (2) ICDs accepted by SPD shall be for a minimum period of one week.
 - (3) ICDs accepted from parent/ promoter/ group companies or any other related party shall be on 'arm's length basis' and disclosed in financial statements as "related party transactions".
 - (4) Funds raised through ICDs are subject to ALM discipline.
- **98.** SPDs are <u>prohibited</u> from placing funds in ICD market.

A.3 FCNR (B) loans / External Commercial Borrowing

99. SPDs may avail of FCNR(B) loans up to a maximum of 25 percent of the NOF as at the end of March of the preceding financial year and subject to the foreign exchange

risk of such loans being hedged at all times at least to the extent of 50 percent of the exposure.

100. SPDs are governed by the provisions of the <u>RBI Circular IDMC.PDRS.No.3820/03.64.00/2002-03 dated March 24, 2003</u>, as amended from time to time, on "Availment of FCNR (B) Loans by Primary Dealers (PDs)".

101. SPDs are **not** permitted to raise funds through External Commercial Borrowings.

A.4 Non-Convertible Debentures (NCDs)

102. SPDs may issue NCDs of maturity up to one year, without the requirement of having a working capital limit with a bank. They shall be governed by the directions, Master Direction – Reserve Bank of India (Commercial Paper and Non-Convertible Debentures of original or initial maturity upto one year) Directions, 2024 dated January 03, 2024.

A.5 Commercial Paper

103. Issuance of Commercial Paper by SPDs shall be as per "Guidelines for Issue of Commercial Paper" issued vide Master Direction – Reserve Bank of India (Commercial Paper and Non-Convertible Debentures of original or initial maturity up to one year) Directions, 2024 dated January 03, 2024.

B. Application of Funds

104. SPDs are permitted to undertake a set of core and non-core activities. SPDs which undertake only the core activities shall maintain a minimum NOF of ₹150 crore. SPDs which also undertake non-core activities shall maintain a minimum NOF of ₹250 crore.

105. The investment in G-Sec must have predominance over the non-core activities in terms of investment pattern. SPDs shall ensure predominance by maintaining at least 50 percent of their total financial investments (both long term and short term) in G-Sec at any point of time. Investment in G-Sec shall include the SPD's Own Stock, Stock with the Bank under Liquidity Support/ Intra-day Liquidity (IDL)/ LAF, Stock with market for repo borrowings and G-Sec pledged with the CCIL.

106. An SPD's investment in G-Sec (including T-Bills and CMBs) and Corporate Bond (to the extent of 50 percent of NOF) on a daily basis shall be at least equal to its net

call/notice/repo (including CBLO) borrowing plus net RBI borrowing (through LAF/Intra-Day Liquidity/ Liquidity Support) plus the minimum prescribed NOF.

107. The following are permitted under core activities:

- (1) Dealing and underwriting in G-Sec,
- (2) Dealing in Interest Rate Derivatives,
- (3) Providing broking services in G-Sec,
- (4) Dealing and underwriting in Corporate/ PSU/ FI bonds/ debentures,
- (5) Lending in Call/ Notice/ Term/ Repo/ CBLO market,
- (6) Investment in Commercial Papers (CPs),
- (7) Investment in Certificates of Deposit (CDs),
- (8) Investment in Security Receipts issued by Asset Reconstruction Companies, Asset Backed Securities (ABS), Mortgage Backed Securities (MBS),
- (9) Investment in debt mutual funds where entire corpus is invested in debt securities,
- (10) Investments in NCDs, and
- (11) Dealing in Credit Default Swaps.

108. SPDs are permitted to undertake the following non-core activities:

- (1) Activities which are expected to consume capital such as:
 - (i) Investment/ trading in equity and equity derivatives market,
 - (ii) Investment in units of equity oriented mutual funds,
 - (iii) Underwriting public issues of equity,
 - (iv) Participation in Currency Futures Market, and
 - (v) offer foreign exchange market-making facilities to users, as currently permitted to Category-I Authorized Dealers.
- (2) Services which may not require significant capital outlay such as:
 - (i) Professional Clearing Services,
 - (ii) Portfolio Management Services,
 - (iii) Issue Management Services,
 - (iv) Merger & Acquisition Advisory Services,
 - (v) Private Equity Management Services,
 - (vi) Project Appraisal Services,
 - (vii)Loan Syndication Services,

- (viii) Debt restructuring services,
- (ix) Consultancy Services,
- (x) Distribution of mutual fund units, and
- (xi) Distribution of insurance products.
- (3) For distribution of insurance products, SPDs are advised to make an application along with necessary particulars duly certified by their statutory auditors to the Regional Office of Department of Supervision under whose jurisdiction the registered office of the SPD is situated. SPDs may take up insurance agency business on fee basis and without risk participation, without the approval of the Bank subject to the certain eligibility conditions. The Detailed Guidelines are as provided for in **paragraph** 110 below.
- (4) SPDs registered with the Bank are allowed to distribute mutual fund products subject to compliance with the SEBI guidelines/ regulations, including its code of conduct, for distribution of mutual fund products. The detailed guidelines are as provided in **paragraph 111** below.
- (5) Specific approvals of other regulators, if needed, shall be obtained for undertaking the activities detailed above.
- (6) SPDs are not allowed to undertake broking in equity, trading/ broking in commodities and gold.
- (7) The exposure to non-core activities shall be subject to the regulatory and prudential norms for diversification of activities by SPD as provided for in the Directions.
- (8) SPDs choosing to diversify into non-core business segments shall define internally the scope of diversification, organization structure and reporting levels for those segments. They shall clearly lay down exposure and risk limits for those segments in their Board approved investment policy.
- **109.** The exposure to core and non-core activities of SPD shall be subject to risk capital allocation (credit risk and market risk) as prescribed in paragraph 15 and 94 of these Directions.

110. Guidelines for Entry of SPDs into Insurance

- (1) NBFCs registered with the Bank are permitted to undertake insurance agency business on fee basis and without risk participation, without the approval of the Bank subject to the following conditions:
 - (i) The NBFCs shall obtain requisite permission from IRDA and comply with the IRDA regulations for acting as 'composite corporate agent' with insurance companies.
 - (ii) The NBFCs shall not adopt any restrictive practice of forcing its customers to go in only for a particular insurance company in respect of assets financed by the NBFC. The customers shall be allowed to exercise their own choice.
 - (iii) As the participation by a NBFC's customer in insurance products is purely on a voluntary basis, it shall be stated in all publicity material distributed by the NBFC in a prominent way. There shall be no `linkage' either direct or indirect between the provision of financial services offered by the NBFC to its customers and use of the insurance products.
 - (iv) The premium shall be paid by the insured directly to the insurance company without routing through the NBFC.
 - (v) The risks, if any, involved in insurance agency shall not get transferred to the business of the NBFC.
- (2) No NBFC would be allowed to conduct such business departmentally. A subsidiary or company in the same group of an NBFC or of another NBFC engaged in the business of a non-banking financial institution or banking business will not normally be allowed to join the insurance company on risk participation basis.
- (3) All NBFCs registered with RBI which satisfy the eligibility criteria given below will be permitted to set up a joint venture company for undertaking insurance business with risk participation subject to safeguards. The maximum equity contribution such an NBFC can hold in the joint venture company will normally be 50 per cent of the paidup capital of the insurance company. On a selective basis, the Bank may permit a higher equity contribution by a promoter NBFC initially, pending divestment of equity within the prescribed period [see Note (1) below].
 - (i) In case more than one company (irrespective of doing financial activity or not) in the same group of the NBFC wishes to take a stake in the

- insurance company, the contribution by all companies in the same group shall be counted for the limit of 50 percent prescribed for the NBFC in an insurance JV.
- (ii) In cases where IRDA issues calls for capital infusion into the Insurance JV company, the Bank may, on a case to case basis, consider need based relaxation of the 50% group limit as specified. The relaxation, if permitted, will be subject to compliance by the NBFC with all regulatory conditions as prescribed for in these Directions and such other conditions as may be necessary in the specific case. Application for such relaxation along with supporting documents is to be submitted by the NBFC to the Regional Office of the Bank under whose jurisdiction its registered office is situated.
- (iii) The eligibility criteria for joint venture participant will be as stated below:
 - (a) The owned fund of the NBFC shall not be less than ₹500 crore,
 - (b) The level of net non-performing assets shall be not more than 5% of the total outstanding leased/hire purchase assets and advances taken together,
 - (c) The NBFC shall have net profit for the last three continuous years,
 - (d) The track record of the performance of the subsidiaries, if any, of the concerned NBFC shall be satisfactory,
 - (e) Regulatory compliance and servicing public deposits, if held.
- (iv) The provisions of RBI Act shall be applicable for such investments while computing the net owned funds of the NBFC.
- (4) In case where a foreign partner contributes 26 per cent of the equity with the approval of insurance Regulatory and Development Authority/Foreign Investment Promotion Board, more than one NBFC may be allowed to participate in the equity of the insurance joint venture. As such participants will also assume insurance risk, only those NBFCs which satisfy the criteria given in paragraph (2) above, would be eligible. (5) NBFCs registered with RBI which are not eligible as joint venture participant, as above can make investments up to 10 per cent of the owned fund of the NBFC or ₹50 crore, whichever is lower, in the insurance company. Such participation shall be treated as an investment and should be without any contingent liability for the NBFC. The eligibility criteria for these NBFCs will be as under:

- (i) The level of net NPA shall be not more than 5 per cent of total outstanding leased/hire purchase assets and advances;
- (ii) The NBFC shall have net profit for the last three continuous years.

Notes:

- (1) Holding of equity by a promoter NBFC in an insurance company or participation in any form in insurance business will be subject to compliance with any rules and regulations laid down by the IRDA/Central Government. This will include compliance with Section 6AA of the Insurance Act as amended by the IRDA Act, 1999, for divestment of equity in excess of 26 per cent of the paid-up capital within a prescribed period of time.
- (2) The eligibility criteria shall be reckoned with reference to the latest available audited balance sheet for the previous year.

111. Guidelines on Distribution of Mutual Fund Products by SPDs

(1) SPDs, which desire to distribute mutual funds, shall be required to adhere to the following stipulations:

(i) Operational Aspects

- (a) The SPD is required to comply with the SEBI guidelines / regulations, including its code of conduct, for distribution of mutual fund products;
- (b) the SPD shall not adopt any restrictive practice of forcing its customers to go in for a particular mutual fund product sponsored by it. Its customers must be allowed to exercise their own choice;
- (c) the participation by the SPDs customers in mutual fund products is purely on a voluntary basis and this information shall be stated in all publicity material distributed by it in a prominent way. There shall be no 'linkage' either direct or indirect between the provisions of financial services offered by the SPD to its customers and distribution of the mutual fund products;
- (d) the SPD shall only act as an agent of its customers, forwarding their applications for purchase / sale of MF units together with the payment instruments, to the Mutual Fund / the Registrars / the transfer agents. The purchase of units should be at the customers' risk and without the NBFC guaranteeing any assured return;

- (e) the SPD shall neither acquire units of mutual funds from the secondary market for sale to its customers, nor shall it buy back units of mutual funds from its customers:
- (f) in case the SPD is holding custody of MF units on behalf of its customers, it shall ensure that its own investments and the investments belonging to its customers are kept distinct from each other.

(ii) Other Aspects

- (a) The SPD shall have put in place a comprehensive Board approved policy regarding undertaking mutual funds distribution. The services relating to the same should be offered to its customers in accordance with this policy. The policy will also encompass issues of customer appropriateness and suitability as well as grievance redressal mechanism. The code of conduct prescribed by SEBI, as amended from time to time and as applicable, must be complied with by SPDs undertaking these activities;
- (b) the SPD shall be adhering to Know Your Customer (KYC) Guidelines and provisions of prevention of Money Laundering Act.
- (2) SPDs shall comply with other terms and conditions as the Bank may specify in this regard from time to time.

Chapter V - Prudential Regulations

A. Accounting Standards

112. SPDs, that are required to implement Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 shall prepare their financial statements in accordance with Ind AS notified by the Government of India and shall comply with the regulatory guidance prescribed vide the Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Companies – Financial Statements: Presentation and Disclosures) Directions, 2025 and Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Companies – Prudential Norms on Capital Adequacy) Directions, 2025. Other SPDs shall comply with the requirements of notified Accounting Standards (AS) insofar as they are not inconsistent with any of these directions.

B. Accounting Standards for securities transactions

- **113.** All securities in trading portfolio shall be marked to market, at appropriate intervals.
- **114.** Costs such as brokerage fees, commission or taxes incurred at the time of acquisition of securities, are of revenue/ deferred nature. The broken period interest received/ paid also gets adjusted at the time of coupon payment. SPDs have to ensure that the accounting method as per applicable accounting standards shall be true and fair and shall not result in overstating the profits or assets value. It shall be followed consistently and be generally acceptable especially to the tax authorities.
- **115.** Broken period interest paid to seller as part of cost on acquisition of Government and other securities shall not be capitalized but treated as an item of expenditure under Profit and Loss Account. The SPDs may maintain separate adjustment accounts for the broken period interest.
- **116.** The valuation of the securities portfolio shall be independent of the dealing and operations functions and shall be done by obtaining the prices declared by FIMMDA/FBIL periodically.

C. Exposure Norms

- **117.** The extant exposure norms for SPDs are as follows:
 - (1) The exposure shall not exceed 25 percent of Tier 1 capital as per last audited accounts in case of a single borrower/counterparty and 40 percent of Tier 1

- capital in case of a group borrower/counterparty except for investments in AAA rated corporate bonds wherein exposure shall not exceed 50 percent of Tier 1 capital as per last audited accounts in case of a single borrower/counterparty and 65 percent of Tier 1 capital in case of a group borrower/counterparty.
- (2) The ceilings on single/group exposure limit shall not be applicable where principal and interest are fully guaranteed by the Government of India.
- (3) SPDs shall include credit risk exposures to all other categories of non-Government securities including investments in mutual funds, commercial papers, certificate of deposits, positions in OTC derivatives not settled through Qualifying CCP (QCCP) etc. to compute extent of credit exposure to adhere to the prescribed prudential limits.
- (4) Clearing exposure to a QCCP shall be kept outside of the exposure ceiling of 25 per cent of its Tier 1 capital applicable to a single counter party.
- (5) Clearing exposure to QCCP shall include trade exposure and default fund exposure as defined in the guidelines on capital requirements for SPDs' exposure to central counterparties issued vide <u>Circular IDMD.PCD.11/14.03.05/2013-14 dated March 27, 2014</u> and as amended from time to time.
- (6) Other permissible exposures to QCCPs such as investments in the capital of CCP etc. shall continue to be within the existing exposure ceiling of 25 per cent of Tier 1 capital to a single borrower/counterparty. However, all exposures of SPD to a non-QCCP shall be within the exposure ceiling of 25 per cent.
- (7) Presently, there are four CCPs viz. Clearing Corporation of India Ltd. (CCIL), National Securities Clearing Corporation Ltd. (NSCCL), Indian Clearing Corporation Ltd. (ICCL), and MCX-SX Clearing Corporation Ltd. (MCX-SXCCL) that are subjected, on an ongoing basis, to rules and regulations that are consistent with CPSS-IOSCO Principles for Financial Market Infrastructures. While the CCIL has been granted the status of a QCCP by the Bank, the other three CCPs have been granted the status of QCCP by SEBI.

D. Sensitive Sector Exposure (SSE)

118. Exposure to capital market (direct and indirect) and commercial real estate (as enumerated in paragraph 3.6.1 and 3.6.2 of **Annex VI** of these Directions) shall be reckoned as sensitive exposure for SPDs. SPDs shall fix Board-approved internal

limits for SSE separately for capital market and commercial real estate exposures. Dynamic vulnerability assessments of various sectors and their likely impact on business, as evaluated periodically, should help SPDs determine such internal exposure limits.

119. SPDs shall calculate exposure for various items as per the Directions contained in paragraph 15 to 94 of these Directions. Aggregate exposure to a counterparty comprising both on and off-balance sheet exposures shall be calculated based on the method prescribed for capital computation in these Directions; i.e., on-balance sheet exposures shall be reckoned at the outstanding amount while the off-balance sheet exposures shall be converted into credit risk equivalent by applying the credit conversion factor prescribed under capital requirements.

Note:

- (a) Aggregate exposure shall be as per the instructions issued vide Reserve Bank
 of India (Non-Banking Financial Companies Concentration Risk
 Management) Directions, 2025.
- (b) With regards to outstanding amount, netting is allowed only for assets where provisions for depreciation or for bad and doubtful debts have been made.

Chapter VI – Governance Issues – Corporate Governance

A. Role of Board

A.1 Board Approved Policies

- **120.** The bank shall put in place Board approved policies and establish periodic review mechanisms to ensure sound corporate governance. An illustrative list of such policies to be approved by the Board or its Committee(s) is provided below. The specific aspects to be addressed in these policies are detailed in the relevant paragraphs of this Direction.
 - (1) The methodology for internal assessment of capital
 - (2) Policy for Inter Corporate Deposits (ICDs)
 - (3) Investment Policy
 - (4) Policy on Fit and Proper Criteria of Directors
 - (5) Compensation Policy
 - (6) Policy to undertake and monitor the foreign exchange business
 - (7) Policy regarding undertaking mutual funds distribution
 - (8) Outsourcing Policy
 - (9) Code of conduct for DSA/ DMA/ Recovery Agents

A.2 Reviews to be carried out by the Board/Board Committee

- **121.** An illustrative list of reviews to be carried out by the Board or its Committee(s) is provided below. The specific aspects to be addressed in these reviews are detailed in the relevant paragraphs of this Direction.
 - (1) Investment in non-G-Sec at least at quarterly intervals
 - (2) Outsourcing strategies and arrangements for their continued relevance, and safety and soundness
 - (3) Half yearly review of central records of material outsourcing
 - (4) Progress made in putting in place a progressive risk management system and risk management policy and strategy followed by the SPD
 - (5) Conformity with corporate governance standards
 - (6) Ageing analysis of entries pending reconciliation with outsourced vendors to be placed before ACB

B. Experience of the Board

122. Considering the need for professional experience in managing the affairs of the SPDs, at least one of the directors shall have relevant experience of having worked in a bank/ NBFC.

C. Constitution of Committees of the Board

123. Audit Committee: SPDs shall constitute an Audit Committee, consisting of not less than three members of its Board of Directors.

Explanation I: If the SPD is required to constitute Audit Committee under section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013 the Audit Committee so constituted by it shall be treated as the Audit Committee for the purpose of this paragraph.

Explanation II: The Audit Committee constituted under this paragraph shall have the same powers, functions and duties as laid down in Section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013.

124. The Audit Committee must ensure that an Information System Audit of the internal systems and processes is conducted at least once in two years to assess operational risks faced by the SPDs.

D. Nomination and Remuneration Committee

125. SPDs shall form a Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) which shall have the constitution, powers, functions and duties as laid down in section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013.

Explanation I: If the SPD is required to constitute NRC under section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013, the NRC so constituted by it shall be treated as the NRC for the purpose of this paragraph.

E. Risk Management Committee

126. In order that the Board is able to focus on risk management, SPDs shall constitute a Risk Management Committee (RMC) either at the Board or executive level. The RMC shall be responsible for evaluating the overall risks faced by the SPDs including liquidity risk and shall report to the Board.

F. Fit and Proper Criteria

127. SPDs shall:

- (1) ensure that a policy is put in place with the approval of the Board of Directors for ascertaining the fit and proper criteria of the directors at the time of appointment, and on a continuing basis. The policy on the fit and proper criteria shall be on the lines of the Guidelines contained in **paragraph 128** below;
- (2) obtain a declaration and undertaking from the directors giving additional information on the directors. The declaration and undertaking shall be on the lines of the format given in **Annex IV**;
- (3) obtain a Deed of Covenant signed by the directors, which shall be in the format as given in **Annex V**;
- (4) furnish to the Bank a quarterly statement on change of directors, and a certificate from the Managing Director of the SPD that fit and proper criteria in selection of the directors has been followed. The statement must reach the Regional Office of the Department of Supervision of the Bank where the company is registered, within 15 days of the close of the respective quarter. The statement submitted by SPD for the quarter ending March 31, shall be certified by the auditors. Provided that the Bank, if it deems fit and in public interest, reserves the right to examine the fit and proper criteria of directors of any SPD.

128. 'Fit and Proper' Criteria for directors of SPDs

- (1) Reserve Bank had issued a Directive in June 2004 to banks on undertaking due diligence on the persons before appointing them on the Boards of banks based on the 'Report of the Consultative Group of directors of Banks / Financial Institutions'. Specific 'fit and proper' criteria to be fulfilled by the directors were also advised.
- (2) The importance of due diligence of directors to ascertain suitability for the post by way of qualifications, technical expertise, track record, integrity, etc. needs no emphasis for any financial institution. It is proposed to follow the same guidelines mutatis mutandis in case of SPDs also. While the Bank does carry out due diligence on directors before issuing Certificate of Registration to an SPD, it is necessary that SPDs put in place an internal supervisory process on a continuing basis. Further, in order to streamline and bring in uniformity in the

process of due diligence, while appointing directors, SPDs are advised to ensure that the procedures mentioned below are followed and minimum criteria fulfilled by the persons before they are appointed on the Boards:

- (i) SPDs shall undertake a process of due diligence to determine the suitability of the person for appointment / continuing to hold appointment as a director on the Board, based upon qualification, expertise, track record, integrity and other 'fit and proper' criteria. SPDs shall obtain necessary information and declaration from the proposed / existing directors for the purpose in the format given at Annex IV.
- (ii) The process of due diligence shall be undertaken by the SPDs at the time of appointment / renewal of appointment.
- (iii) The boards of the SPDs shall constitute Nomination and Remuneration Committees to scrutinize the declarations.
- (iv)Based on the information provided in the signed declaration, Nomination and Remuneration Committees shall decide on the acceptance or otherwise of the directors, where considered necessary.
- (v) SPDs shall obtain annually as on 31st March a simple declaration from the directors that the information already provided has not undergone change and where there is any change, requisite details are furnished by them forthwith.
- (vi) The Board of the SPD must ensure in public interest that the nominated/ elected directors execute the deeds of covenants in the format given in **Annex V**.

G. Key Managerial Personnel

129. Except for directorship in a subsidiary, Key Managerial Personnel of the SPDs shall not hold any office (including directorships) in any other NBFC-ML or NBFC-UL. It is clarified that they can assume directorship in NBFC-BL, subject to provisions of Companies Act, 2013.

H. Independent Director

130. Within the permissible limits in terms of Companies Act, 2013 an independent director shall not be on the Board of more than three NBFCs (NBFC-ML or NBFC-UL)

at the same time. Further, the Board of the SPD shall ensure that there is no conflict arising out of their independent directors being on the Board of another NBFC at the same time. There shall be no restriction to directorship on the Boards of NBFCs-BL, subject to provisions of Companies Act, 2013.

I. Guidelines on Compensation of Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) and Senior Management in SPDs

- **131.** In order to address issues arising out of excessive risk taking caused by misaligned compensation packages, SPDs are required to put in place a Board approved compensation policy. The policy shall at the minimum include:
 - (1) constitution of a Remuneration Committee,
 - (2) principles for fixed/variable pay structures, and
 - (3) malus/ clawback provisions.
- **132.** The Board of SPDs shall delineate the role of various committee, including Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC). Further, SPDs shall comply with the guidelines furnished in **paragraph 133** below.

133. Guidelines on Compensation of Key Managerial Personnel and Senior Management in SPDs: Minimum Scope and coverage

(1) Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC): The Boards of SPDs shall constitute a Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC). The NRC shall have the constitution, powers, functions and duties as laid down in Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013. The NRC, *inter alia*, shall also have the mandate to oversee the framing, review and implementation of compensation policy of the company which should have the approval of the board. The NRC may work in close coordination with Risk Management Committee (RMC) of the SPD to achieve effective alignment between compensation and risks. Further, the NRC may ensure that compensation levels are supported by the need to retain earnings of the SPD and the need to maintain adequate capital based on ICAAP. NRC may also ensure 'fit and proper' status of proposed/existing directors and that there is no conflict of interest in appointment of directors on Board of the company, KMPs and senior management.

(2) Principles for compensation

- (i) Components and risk alignment: The compensation of Key Managerial Personnel (KMPs) and senior management needs to be reasonable, recognising all relevant factors including adherence to statutory requirements and industry practices. The compensation packages may comprise of fixed and variable pay components aligned effectively with prudent risk taking to ensure that compensation is adjusted for all types of risks, the compensation outcomes are symmetric with risk outcomes, compensation pay-outs are sensitive to the time horizon of the risks, and the mix of cash, equity and other forms of compensation are consistent with risk alignment.
- (ii) Composition of Fixed Pay: All the fixed items of compensation, including the perquisites and contributions towards superannuation/retiral benefits, may be treated as part of fixed pay. All perquisites that are reimbursable may also be included in the fixed pay so long as there are monetary ceilings on these reimbursements. Monetary equivalent of benefits of non-monetary nature (such as free furnished house, use of company car, etc.) may also be part of fixed pay.

(iii) Principles for Variable Pay

- (a) Composition of Variable Pay: The variable pay may be in the form of share linked instruments, or a mix of cash and share-linked instruments. It shall be ensured that the share-linked instruments are in conformity with relevant statutory provisions.
- (b) Proportion: The proportion of variable pay in total compensation needs to be commensurate with the role and prudent risk taking profile of KMPs/senior management. At higher levels of responsibility, the proportion of variable pay needs to be higher. There should be proper balance between the cash and share-linked instruments in the variable pay in case the variable pay contains share linked instruments. The variable pay should be truly and effectively variable and can be reduced to zero based on performance at an individual, business-unit and companywide level. In order to do so, performance measures and their relation to remuneration packages should be clearly defined at the beginning of the performance

measurement period to ensure that the employees perceive the incentive mechanism.

Note: Total compensation includes fixed and variable pay

- **(c) Deferral of variable pay:** Not all the variable pay awarded after performance assessment **may** be paid immediately. Certain portion of variable pay, as decided by the Board of the company, may be deferred to time horizon of the risks. The portion of deferral arrangement may be made applicable for both cash and non-cash components of the variable pay. Deferral period for such an arrangement may be decided by the Board of the company.
- (d) Control and assurance function personnel: KMPs and senior management engaged in financial control, risk management, compliance and internal audit may be compensated in a manner that is independent of the business areas they oversee and commensurate with their key role in the company. Accordingly, such personnel may have higher proportion of fixed compensation. However, a reasonable proportion of compensation may be in the form of variable pay, so that exercising the options of malus and/or clawback, when warranted, is not rendered infructuous.
- **Guaranteed bonus :** Guaranteed bonus may not be paid to KMPs and senior management. However, in the context of new hiring joining/sign-on bonus could be considered. Such bonus will neither be considered part of fixed pay nor of variable pay.
- (4) Malus/Clawback: The deferred compensation may be subject to malus/clawback arrangements in the event of subdued or negative financial performance of the company and/or the relevant line of business or employee misconduct in any year. A representative set of situations may be identified by the SPD, which require them to invoke the malus and clawback clauses that may be applicable on entire variable pay. While setting criteria for the application of malus and clawback, SPDs may also specify a period during which malus and/or clawback can be applied, covering at least the deferral and retention periods.

Notes:

- (1) A malus arrangement permits the SPD to prevent vesting of all or part of the amount of a deferred remuneration. Malus arrangement does not reverse vesting after it has already occurred.
- (2) A clawback is a contractual agreement between the employee and the SPD in which the employee agrees to return previously paid or vested remuneration to the SPD under certain circumstances.
- (3) Retention period: A period of time after the vesting of instruments which have been awarded as variable pay during which they cannot be sold or accessed.
- **134.** The guidelines are intended only for providing broad guidance to SPDs and their NRCs in formulating their compensation policy. While formulating the compensation policy, it has to be ensured that all statutory mandates and the rules and directions issued under them are fully complied with.
- **135.** These guidelines shall be for fixing the compensation policy of Key Managerial Personnel and members of senior management of SPDs.

J. Disclosure and transparency

- **136.** SPDs shall put up to the Board of Directors, at regular intervals, as may be prescribed by the Board in this regard, the following:
 - (1) the progress made in putting in place a progressive risk management system and risk management policy and strategy followed by the SPD;
 - (2) conformity with corporate governance standards viz., in composition of various committees, their role and functions, periodicity of the meetings and compliance with coverage and review functions, etc.
- **137.** SPDs shall also disclose the following in their Annual Financial Statements:
 - (1) registration/ licence/ authorisation, by whatever name called, obtained from other financial sector regulators;
 - (2) ratings assigned by credit rating agencies and migration of ratings during the year;
 - (3) penalties, if any, levied by any regulator;
 - (4) information namely, area, country of operation and joint venture partners with regard to Joint ventures and overseas subsidiaries and

- (5) Asset-Liability profile, extent of financing of parent company products, NPAs and movement of NPAs, details of all off-balance sheet exposures, structured products issued by them as also securitization/ assignment transactions and other disclosures, as given in **Annex VI**.
- **138.** SPDs shall publish their audited annual results in leading financial dailies and on their website in the format prescribed **(Annex III).** The following minimum information shall be included by way of notes on accounts to the Balance Sheet:
 - (1) Net borrowings in call (average and peak during the period),
 - (2) Basis of valuation,
 - (3) Leverage Ratio (average and peak),
 - (4) CRAR (quarterly figures), and
 - (5) Details of the issuer composition of non-G-Sec investments.
 - (6) SPDs may also furnish more information by way of additional disclosures.
- **139.** In respect of penalty levied by the Bank, a Press Release will be issued by the Reserve Bank, giving details of the circumstances under which the penalty is imposed on the SPD along with the communication on the imposition of penalty in public domain.

K. Appointment of Statutory Central Auditors/Statutory Auditors

140. SPDs shall adhere to the instructions contained in circular titled 'Guidelines for Appointment of Statutory Central Auditors (SCAs)/ Statutory Auditors (SAs) of Commercial Banks (excluding RRBs), UCBs and NBFCs (including SPDs)' dated April 27, 2021, as amended from time to time.

L. Framing of Internal Guidelines

141. SPDs shall frame their internal guidelines on corporate governance with the approval of the Board of Directors, enhancing the scope of the guidelines without sacrificing the spirit underlying the above guidelines and it shall be published on the company's website, if any, for the information of various stakeholders.

Chapter VII – Miscellaneous Instructions

A. Change in shareholding pattern

142. Any change in the shareholding pattern / capital structure of an SPD shall need prior approval of the Bank. SPDs shall report any other material changes such as business profile, organization, etc. affecting the conditions of licensing as SPD to the Bank immediately. SPDs shall also ensure compliance to the instructions as specified in the paragraphs 13 to 14 of these directions.

B. Norms for Ready Forward transactions

143. SPDs are permitted to participate in ready forward (Repo) market both as lenders and borrowers in corporate debt securities and Government securities subject to directions issued by FMRD and IDMD vide Repurchase Transactions (Repo) (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2018 dated July 24, 2018 and Master Direction – Operational Guidelines for Primary Dealers dated July 01, 2016 respectively, as amended from time to time. Further, such SPDs participating in repo transactions shall comply with guidelines on uniform accounting for repo/ reverse repo transactions issued by IDMD vide Repurchase Transactions (Repo) (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2018 dated July 24, 2018 and FMRD.DIRD.10/14.03.002/2015-16 dated May 19, 2016, as amended from time to time.

144. An SPD shall not enter into a repo in Corporate Debt Securities with its own constituent or facilitate a repo between two of its constituents

145. Listed companies can enter into repo transactions subject to the following condition:

Where the listed company is a 'buyer' of securities in the first leg of the repo contract (i.e. lender of funds), the custodian through which the repo transaction is settled should block these securities in the gilt account and ensure that these securities are not further sold or re-repoed during the repo period but are held for delivery under the second leg.

C. Portfolio Management Services by SPDs

146. SPDs may offer Portfolio Management Services (PMS) to their clients under the SEBI scheme of PMS, subject to the following conditions:

- (1) Before undertaking PMS, the SPD must have obtained the Certificate of Registration as Portfolio Manager from the SEBI and also a specific approval from the Reserve Bank.
- (2) PMS cannot be offered to any RBI regulated entity. However, advisory services can be provided to them with suitable disclaimers.
- (3) Where applicable, the clients regulated by any other authority should obtain clearance from the regulatory or any other authority before entering into any PMS arrangement with the SPD.
- (4) SPDs are required to comply with the SEBI (Portfolio Managers) Regulations, 1993 and any amendments issued thereto or instructions issued there under.

147. SPDs shall adhere to the under noted conditions:

- (1) A clear mandate from the PMS clients shall be obtained and the same shall be strictly followed. In particular, there should be full understanding on risk disclosures, loss potential and the costs (fees and commissions) involved.
- (2) PMS shall be entirely at the customer's risk without guaranteeing, either directly or indirectly, any return.
- (3) Funds/securities, each time they are placed with the SPD for portfolio management, shall not be accepted for a period less than one year.
- (4) Portfolio funds shall not be deployed for lending in call/notice/term money/Bills rediscounting markets, badla financing or lending to/placement with corporate/noncorporate bodies.
- (5) Client-wise accounts/records of funds accepted for management and investments made there against shall be maintained and the clients shall be entitled to get statements of account at frequent intervals.
- (6) Investments and funds belonging to PMS clients shall be kept segregated and distinct from each other and from those of the SPD. As far as possible, all client transactions shall be executed in the market and not off-set internally, either with the SPD or any other client. All transactions between the SPD and any PMS client or between two PMS clients shall be strictly at market rates.

D. Guidelines on Interest Rate Derivatives

148. SPDs shall adhere to the guidelines applicable to interest rate derivatives as laid down in Master Direction – Reserve Bank of India (Market-makers in OTC Derivatives)

Directions, 2021, Interest Rate Futures (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2013 dated December 05, 2013 and Rupee Interest Rate Derivatives (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2019 dated June 26, 2019, as amended from time to time.

SPDs are allowed to deal in Interest Rate Futures (IRFs) for both hedging and trading on own account and not on client's account, as given in the Rupee Interest Rate Derivatives (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2019 (Notification No.FMRD.DIRD.20/2019) dated June 26, 2019, as amended from time to time.

149. SPDs shall report all their IRS/FRA trades, except with clients, on the CCIL reporting platform within 30 minutes from the deal time. Further, all transaction with clients in INR FRA/IRS shall be reported as per the timelines prescribed in Master Direction - Risk Management and Inter-Bank Dealings dated July 05, 2016.

E. Guidelines on Credit Default Swaps

150. SPDs shall adhere to the guidelines laid down in Master Direction - Reserve Bank of India (Credit Derivatives) Directions, 2022 dated February 10, 2022 as applicable to Credit Default Swaps. SPDs intending to act as market makers in CDS shall fulfil the following criteria:

- (1) Minimum Net Owned Funds of ₹500 crore
- (2) Minimum CRAR of 15 percent
- (3) Have robust risk management systems in place to deal with various risks **151.** The regulatory approval to SPDs to act as market makers in the CDS market would be accorded by the Chief General Manager, Internal Debt Management Department, Central office, RBI, Mumbai on a case by case basis, on application for the same.

F. Guidelines on investments in non-G-Sec

152. SPDs shall adhere to guidelines on investments in non-G-Sec (including capital gain bonds, bonds eligible for priority sector status, bonds issued by Central or State public sector undertakings with or without Government guarantees and bonds issued by banks and financial companies) generally issued by corporate, banks, FIs and State and Central Government sponsored institutions, Special Purpose Vehicles (SPVs), etc. The guidelines will apply to investments both in the primary and secondary market. These guidelines will, however, not be applicable to:

- (1) units of equity oriented mutual fund schemes where any part of the corpus can be invested in equity,
- (2) venture capital funds,
- (3) CPs,
- (4) CDs, and
- (5) investments in equity shares.
- **153.** SPDs are permitted to become members of SEBI approved Stock Exchanges for the purpose of undertaking proprietary transactions in corporate bonds. While doing so, SPDs shall comply with all the regulatory norms laid down by SEBI and all the eligibility criteria/rules of stock exchanges.
- **154.** In terms of instructions contained in the Master Direction Operational Guidelines for Primary Dealers issued vide <u>Master Direction IDMD.PDRD.01/03.64.00/2016-17 dated July 01, 2016</u>, SPDs are allowed a sub-limit of 50 percent of NOF for investment in corporate bonds within the overall permitted average fortnightly limit of 225 per cent of NOF as at the end of March of the preceding financial year for call /notice money market borrowing.
- 155. SPDs shall not invest in non-G-Sec of original maturity of less than one year, other than NCDs, CPs and CDs, as provided for in Master Direction on Money Market Instruments: Call/Notice Money Market, Commercial Paper, Certificates of Deposit and Non-Convertible Debentures (original maturity up to one year) vide Master Direction Reserve Bank of India (Call, Notice and Term Money Markets) Directions, 2021 dated April 01, 2021 and Master Direction Reserve Bank of India (Commercial Paper and Non-Convertible Debentures of original or initial maturity upto one year) Directions, 2024 dated January 03, 2024. SPDs are permitted to invest in NCDs with original or initial maturity up to one year issued by the corporates (including NBFCs). However, their investments in such unlisted NCDs shall not exceed 10 per cent of the size of their non-G-Sec portfolio on an on-going basis. While investing in such instruments, SPDs shall be guided by the extant prudential guidelines in force and instructions contained in the Master Direction Reserve Bank of India (Commercial Paper and Non-Convertible Debentures of original or initial maturity upto one year) Directions, 2024 dated January 03, 2024 as amended from time to time.
- **156.** SPDs shall undertake usual due diligence in respect of investments in non-G-Sec.

- **157.** SPDs shall not invest in unrated non-G-Sec.
- **158.** SPDs shall abide by the requirements stipulated by SEBI in respect of corporate debt securities. Accordingly, while making fresh investments in non-Government debt securities, SPDs shall ensure that such investments are made only in listed debt securities, except to the extent indicated in paragraph 157 above.
- **159.** SPD's investment in unlisted non-G-Sec shall not exceed 10% of the size of their non-G-Sec portfolio on an on-going basis. The ceiling of 10% shall be inclusive of investment in Security Receipts issued by Securitization Companies/Reconstruction Companies and also the investment in ABS and MBS. The unlisted non-Government debt securities in which SPDs shall invest up to the limits specified above, should comply with the disclosure requirements as prescribed by the SEBI for listed companies.
- **160.** As per SEBI guidelines, all trades with the exception of the spot transactions, in a listed debt security, shall be executed only on the trading platform of a stock exchange. All entities regulated by the Reserve Bank shall report their secondary market OTC trades in Corporate Bonds and Securitized Debt Instruments within 15 minutes of the trade on any of the stock exchanges (NSE, BSE and MCX-SX). These trades may be cleared and settled through any of the clearing corporations (NSCCL, ICCL and MCXSX CCL).
- **161.** SPDs shall ensure that their investment policies are formulated after taking into account all the relevant issues specified in the guidelines on investment in non-G-Sec. They should put in place proper risk management systems for capturing and analysing the risk in respect of non-G-Sec before making investments and taking remedial measures in time. SPDs shall also put in place appropriate systems to ensure that investment in privately placed instruments is made in accordance with the systems and procedures prescribed under respective SPD's investment policy.
- **162.** Boards of the SPDs shall review the following aspects of investment in non-GSec at least at quarterly intervals:
 - (1) Total business (investment and divestment) during the reporting period.
 - (2) Compliance with the prudential limits as well as prudential guidelines prescribed by the Board for investment in non-G-Sec.
 - (3) Rating migration of the issuers/ issues held in the SPD's books.
- **163.** In order to help creation of a central database on private placement of debt, a copy of all offer documents shall be filed with the Credit Information Bureau (India)

Ltd. (CIBIL) by the SPDs. Further, any default relating to interest/ instalment in respect of any privately placed debt shall also be reported to CIBIL by the investing SPDs along with a copy of the offer document.

G. Investment / trading in equity and equity derivatives market

164. SPDs are permitted to take up trading and self-clearing membership with SEBI approved stock exchanges/ clearing corporations for undertaking proprietary transactions in equity and equity derivatives market as permitted under sub-clause (i)(a) of paragraph 108 of these Directions. While doing so, SPDs shall comply with all the regulatory norms laid down by SEBI and all the eligibility criteria/ rules of stock exchanges and clearing corporations.

H. Trading of G-Sec on Stock Exchanges

165. With a view to encouraging wider participation of all classes of investors, including retail, in G-Sec, trading in G-Sec through a nationwide, anonymous, order driven screen based trading system on stock exchanges, in the same manner in which trading takes place in equities, has been permitted. Accordingly, trading of dated GSec in demat form is allowed on automated order driven system of the National Stock Exchange (NSE) of India, the Bombay Stock Exchange Ltd., Mumbai (BSE), the Over the Counter Exchange of India (OTCEI) and the MCX Stock Exchange. This trading facility is in addition to the reporting/trading facility in the NDS. Being a parallel system, the trades concluded on the exchanges will be cleared by their respective clearing corporations/clearing houses.

166. SPDs shall play an active role in providing liquidity to the G-Sec market and promote retailing. They shall, therefore, make full use of the facility to distribute G-Sec to all categories of investors through the process of placing and picking-up orders on the exchanges. SPDs may open demat accounts with a Depository Participant (DP) of NSDL/CDSL in addition to their accounts with RBI. Value free transfer of securities between SGL/CSGL and own demat account is enabled by PDO-Mumbai subject to guidelines issued by Department of Government and Bank Accounts (DGBA), RBI.

167. For trading of G-Sec on Stock Exchanges the following shall be adhered to by SPDs:

- (1) SPDs shall take specific approval from their Board to enable them to trade in the Stock Exchanges.
- (2) SPDs shall undertake transactions only on the basis of giving and taking delivery of securities.
- (3) Brokers/trading members shall not be involved in the settlement process. All trades shall be settled either directly with clearing corporation/clearing house (in case they are clearing members) or else through clearing member custodians.
- (4) The trades done through any single broker shall also be subject to the current regulations on transactions done through brokers.
- (5) A standardized settlement on T+1 basis of all outright secondary market transactions in G-Sec has been adopted to provide the participants more processing time for transactions and to help in better funds as well as risk management.
- (6) In the case of repo transactions in G-Sec, however, market participants will have the choice of settling the first leg on either T+0 basis or T+1 basis, as per their requirements.
- (7) Any settlement failure on account of non-delivery of securities/ non-availability of clear funds will be treated as SGL bouncing and the current penalties in respect of SGL transactions will be applicable. Stock Exchanges will report such failures to the respective PDOs.
- (8) SPDs who are trading members of the Stock Exchanges may have to put up margins on behalf of their non-institutional client trades. Such margins are required to be collected from the respective clients. SPDs shall not pay up margins on behalf of their client trades and incur overnight credit exposure to their clients. In so far as the intraday exposures on clients for margins are concerned, the SPDs shall be conscious of the underlying risks in such exposures.
- (9) SPDs who intend to offer clearing /custodial services shall take specific approval from SEBI in this regard. Similarly, SPDs who intend to take trading membership of the Stock Exchanges shall satisfy the criteria laid down by SEBI and the Stock Exchanges.

I. Participation of SPDs in Currency Futures Market

168. SPDs are permitted to deal in currency futures contracts traded on recognized exchanges subject to the following conditions:

(1) Eligibility

- (i) Exposure to currency futures shall be treated as a non-core activity for SPDs and only SPDs having a minimum Net Owned Fund of ₹250 crore or any amount as prescribed for undertaking diversified activity shall be allowed to participate in currency futures.
- (ii) As prescribed in the Directions on capital requirements, the capital charge for market risk for the non-core activities (including currency futures) which are expected to consume capital shall not be more than 20 percent of the NOF as per last audited balance sheet (i.e., limit as specified in paragraphs 92 to 94 of these Directions).
- (iii) SPDs shall be guided by the instructions specified in <u>Master Direction Risk</u>

 <u>Management and Inter-Bank Dealings dated July 05, 2016</u> (as amended from time to time), to the extent applicable to SPDs.
- **(2) Membership**: SPDs are permitted to participate in the currency futures market either as clients or direct trading/ clearing members of the currency derivatives segment of the Stock Exchanges recognized by SEBI.
- (3) **Position limits**: SPDs are permitted to take long and short positions in the currency futures market with or without having an underlying exposure subject to the position limits specified by the exchanges. However, the aggregate gross open positions across all contracts in all the stock exchanges in the respective currency pairs shall not exceed the limits as mentioned below:

Currency Pairs	Position Limits
USD-INR	Gross open position across all contracts shall not exceed 15
	percent of the total open interest or USD 50 million,
	whichever is higher.
EUR-INR	Gross open position across all contracts shall not exceed 15
	percent of the total open interest or EUR 25 million,
	whichever is higher.

GBP-INR	Gross open position across all contracts shall not exceed 15
	percent of the total open interest or GBP 25 million,
	whichever is higher.
JPY-INR	Gross open position across all contracts shall not exceed 15
	percent of the total open interest or JPY 1000 million,
	whichever is higher.

(4) Risk Management

- (i) SPDs shall lay down detailed guidelines on risk management including exposure, risk limits and reporting requirements with Board's approval for conduct of this activity and management of risks.
- (ii) SPDs shall put in place appropriate system to ensure strict adherence to the above prescribed position limits.
- (iii) SPDs shall maintain adequate infrastructure in terms of systems and manpower for participation in currency futures.

(5) General

(i) For capital adequacy purpose, SPDs shall adhere to the guidelines given in paragraphs 18 to 83 of these Directions and other instructions prescribed in these Directions for providing capital charge for various risks arising from outstanding contracts. Since currency futures contracts would be subject to CCP clearing of the authorised stock exchanges, capital charge for credit risk shall be calculated as per methodology prescribed for calculation of capital charge for exposure towards CCP in paragraph D.1 (5) these Directions. The Credit Conversion Factor to be used for exchange rate contracts shall be as per paragraph D.1 (6) of these Directions. Further, as prescribed in the existing capital adequacy guidelines, the capital charge for market risk in foreign exchange shall be worked out by the standardised approach and the internal risk management framework-based Value at Risk (VaR) model, and the capital charge for market risk shall be higher of the two requirements. Under the standardised approach, SPDs shall calculate the capital charge for market risk in foreign exchange exposures as per instructions contained in paragraph 81 to 82. The capital charge for market

- risk shall be over and above the capital charge for credit risk, maintained as per instructions in these Directions.
- (ii) In case of failure to meet the obligations of Primary Dealership business in the Government securities market or any other violations leading to supervisory concern, the Bank reserves the right to impose restrictions or withdraw permission to deal in currency futures contracts.

J. Foreign exchange business

- **169.** SPDs are permitted to offer all foreign exchange market-making facilities to users, as currently permitted to Category-I Authorized Dealers, subject to adherence to the following prudential and other regulations/ guidelines applicable to them. Such activities shall be part of their non-core activities. The SPDs shall adhere to the following prudential regulations:
 - (1) SPDs, while calculating the total risk weighted assets, shall include the forex exposures for maintenance of minimum Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio (CRAR) of 15 percent on an ongoing basis. The capital charge for credit risk shall be arrived as per the instructions contained in Chapter II <u>Annex II</u> of these Directions.
 - (2) As prescribed in the existing capital adequacy guidelines, the capital charge for market risk in foreign exchange exposures shall be higher of the charges worked out by the standardised approach and the internal risk management framework-based Value at Risk (VaR) model. Further, under the standardised approach, SPDs shall maintain the capital charge for market risk in foreign exchange exposures as per instructions contained in paragraph 81 to 82 of this direction. The capital charge for market risk shall be over and above the capital charge for credit risk, maintained as per instructions in these Directions.
 - (3) In addition to the foreign exchange exposure limits prescribed under Master Direction Risk Management & Inter-Bank Dealings dated July 05, 2016 (as amended from time to time), the capital charge for market risk for all the permissible non-core activities, including foreign exchange activities, shall not be more than 20 percent of the Net Owned Fund of the SPD as per last audited balance sheet (i.e., limit as specified in paragraphs 92 to 94 of these Directions).

- **170.** With effect from January 01, 2023 all financial transactions involving the Rupee undertaken globally by related entities of the SPDs shall be reported to CCIL's Trade Repository before 12:00 noon of the business day following the date of transaction.
- **171.** SPDs desirous of undertaking foreign exchange market-making facilities may approach the Reserve Bank of India, Foreign Exchange Department, Central Office, Mumbai for the necessary authorization.
- **172.** While offering foreign exchange market-making facilities to users, SPDs shall comply with the provisions of the Foreign Exchange Management Act 1999, and all rules, regulations and directions issued thereunder; and also, the following directions, to the extent applicable, in respect of foreign exchange products allowed to them:
 - (1) Master Direction on Risk Management and Inter-Bank Dealings (RBI/FMRD/2016-17/31 dated July 5, 2016), as amended from time to time.
 - (2) Master Direction Reserve Bank of India (Market-makers in OTC Derivatives) Directions, 2021 (<u>FMRD.FMD.07/02.03.247/2021-22 dated September 16, 2021</u>), as amended from time to time, and
 - (3) Guidelines for Internal Control over Foreign Exchange Business (FE.CO.FMD.No.18380/02.03.137/2010-11 dated February 3, 2011), as amended from time to time.
- **173.** SPDs shall frame a Board approved policy to undertake and monitor the foreign exchange business.
- **174.** It may be noted that in case of failure of SPDs to meet the obligations of Primary Dealership (PD) business in the Government securities market or any other violations on regulations on conducting the PD business, the Reserve Bank reserves the right to impose restrictions or withdraw permission to undertake the foreign exchange business.

K. Business through brokers

175. Business through brokers and limits for approved brokers: SPDs may undertake securities transactions among themselves or with clients through the members of the BSE, NSE and OTCEI. However, if the SPDs undertake OTC interest rate derivative transactions through brokers, they shall ensure that these brokers are accredited by FIMMDA. SPDs shall fix aggregate contract limits for each of the approved brokers. A limit of 5 percent of total broker transactions (both purchase and sales) entered into by SPD during a year shall be treated as the aggregate upper limit for each of the approved brokers. However, if for any reason it becomes necessary to exceed the

aggregate limit for any broker, the specific reasons thereof shall be recorded and the Board shall be informed of this, post facto.

- **176.** With the approval of their top management, SPDs shall prepare a panel of approved brokers, which shall be reviewed annually or more often if so warranted. Clear-cut criteria shall be laid down for empanelment of brokers, including verification of their creditworthiness, market reputation, etc. A record of broker-wise details of deals put through and brokerage paid, shall be maintained.
- **177.** Brokerage payable to the broker, if any (if the deal was put through with the help of a broker), shall be clearly indicated on the notes/memorandum put up seeking approval for putting through the transaction, and a separate account of brokerage paid, broker-wise, shall be maintained.
- **178.** The role of the broker shall be restricted to that of bringing the two parties to the deal together. Settlement of deals between SPDs and counterparties shall be directly between the counterparties and the broker will have no role in the settlement process.
- **179.** While negotiating the deal, the broker is not obliged to disclose the identity of the counterparty to the deal. On conclusion of the deal, he should disclose the counterparty and his contract note should clearly indicate the name of the counterparty.

L. Guidelines on declaration of dividend

- **180.** SPDs shall comply with the following guidelines to declare dividends.
 - (1) The Board of Directors, while considering the proposals for dividend, shall take into account each of the following aspects:
 - (i) Supervisory findings of the Reserve Bank on divergence in classification and provisioning for Non-Performing Assets (NPAs).
 - (ii) Qualifications in the Auditors Report to the financial statements.
 - (iii) Long term growth plans of the SPD.
 - (2) SPDs that meet the following minimum prudential requirements shall be eligible to declare dividend:
 - (i) SPDs should have maintained a minimum CRAR of 20 percent for the financial year (each of the four quarters) for which dividend is proposed.
 - (ii) The net NPA ratio shall be less than six percent in each of the last three years, including as at the close of the financial year for which dividend is proposed to be declared.

- (iii) SPDs shall comply with the provisions of Section 45 IC of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934.
- (iv) SPDs shall be compliant with the prevailing regulations/ guidelines issued by the Reserve Bank. The Reserve Bank shall not have placed any explicit restrictions on declaration of dividend.
- (3) SPDs that meet the eligibility criteria specified in paragraph 180(2) above can declare dividend up to a dividend payout ratio of 60 percent.
- (4) SPDs having CRAR below the regulatory minimum of 15 percent in any of the four quarters of the financial year for which dividend is proposed shall not declare any dividend. For SPDs having CRAR at or above the regulatory minimum of 15 percent during all the four quarters of the financial year for which dividend is being considered, but lower than 20 percent in any of the four quarters, the dividend payout ratio shall not exceed 33.3 percent.
- (5) The Board shall ensure that the total dividend proposed for the financial year does not exceed the ceilings specified in these guidelines. The Reserve Bank shall not entertain any request for ad-hoc dispensation on declaration of dividend.
- (6) SPDs declaring dividend shall report details of dividend declared during the financial year as per the format prescribed in **Annex VII** along with a copy of the resolution of the Board recommending the dividend. The report shall be furnished within a fortnight after declaration of dividend to the Internal Debt Management Department of the Reserve Bank.

M. Applicability of Know Your Customer (KYC) Direction, 2016

181. All SPDs having customer interface shall be required to follow the Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Companies – Know Your Customer) Directions, 2025, issued by the Department of Regulation and as amended from time to time.

N. Managing Risks and Code of Conduct in Outsourcing of Financial Services by SPDs

182. SPDs shall conduct a self-assessment of their existing outsourcing arrangements and bring these in line with the directions as provided at Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Companies – Managing Risks in Outsourcing) Directions, 2025.

O. Technical Specifications for all participants of the Account Aggregator ecosystem

183. The NBFC-Account Aggregator (AA) consolidates financial information, as defined in Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Companies - Account Aggregator) Directions, 2025, of a customer held with different financial entities, spread across financial sector regulators adopting different IT systems and interfaces. In order to ensure that such movement of data is secured, duly authorised, smooth and seamless, it has been decided to put in place a set of core technical specifications for the participants of the AA ecosystem. Reserve Bank Information Technology Private Limited (ReBIT), has framed these specifications and published the same on its website (www.rebit.org.in).

184. SPDs acting either as Financial Information Providers or Financial Information Users are expected to adopt the technical specifications published by ReBIT, as updated from time to time.

Note: The definitions of Financial Information Providers and Financial Information Users are as per the Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Companies - Account Aggregator) Directions, 2025, as amended from time to time.

Chapter VIII - Reporting Requirements

- **185.** The reporting requirements as prescribed by Internal Debt Management Department and Department on Supervision shall be adhered to by the SPDs.
- **186.** All operational guidelines issued by Internal Debt Management Department shall also be adhered to by the SPDs.

Chapter IX – Repeal and Other Provisions

A. Repeal and saving

187. With the issue of these Directions, the existing Directions, instructions, and guidelines as applicable to Standalone Primary Dealers stand repealed, as communicated vide notification dated XX, 2025. The Directions, instructions and guidelines already repealed shall continue to remain repealed.

188. Notwithstanding such repeal, any action taken or purported to have been taken, or initiated under the repealed Directions, instructions, or guidelines shall continue to be governed by the provisions thereof. All approvals or acknowledgments granted under these repealed lists shall be deemed as governed by these Directions.

B. Application of other laws not barred

189. The provisions of these Directions shall be in addition to, and not in derogation of the provisions of any other laws, rules, regulations, or directions, for the time being in force.

C. Interpretations

190. For the purpose of giving effect to the provisions of these Directions or in order to remove any difficulties in the application or interpretation of the provisions of these Directions, the RBI may, if it considers necessary, issue necessary clarifications in respect of any matter covered herein and the interpretation of any provision of these Directions given by the RBI shall be final and binding.

Annex I

Guidelines on Subordinated Debt (SD) Bonds (Tier 2 capital)

- (1) The amount to be raised may be decided by the Board of Directors of the SPD.
- (2) The SPDs may fix coupon rates as decided by their Board.
- (3) The instruments should be 'plain vanilla' with no special features like options, etc.
- (4) The debt securities should carry a credit rating from a Credit Rating Agency registered with the Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI).
- (5) The issue of SD instruments should comply with the relevant guidelines issued by SEBI.
- (6) In case of unlisted issues of SD, the disclosure requirements as prescribed by the SEBI for listed companies in terms of the above guidelines should be complied with.
- (7) Necessary permission from the Foreign Exchange Department of the Bank should be obtained for issuing the instruments to Non-Resident Indians/Foreign Institutional Investors (FIIs). SPDs should comply with the terms and conditions, if any, prescribed by SEBI / other regulatory authorities with regard to issue of the instruments.
- (8) Investments by SPDs in SD of other PDs/banks will be assigned 100% risk weight for capital adequacy purpose. Further, the SPD's aggregate investments in Tier 2 bonds issued by other PDs, banks and financial institutions should be restricted to 10 percent of the investing SPD's total capital funds. The capital funds for this purpose will be the same as those reckoned for the purpose of capital adequacy.
- (9) The SPDs should submit a report to the Chief General Manager, Department of Supervision (DOS), RBI, giving details of the capital raised, such as, amount raised, maturity of the instrument, rate of interest together with a copy of the offer document, soon after the issue is completed.

Annex II

Illustration Statement of Capital Adequacy - Quarter ended - Name of the Primary Dealer:

Statement - 1 (Summary) (Amount in ₹)

(i)	Total of Risk Weighted Assets(RWA) for Credit Risk	
	(Appendix I)	
(ii)	(a) Tier 1 capital funds (after deductions)	
	(b) Tier 2 capital funds eligible	
	(c) Total of available Tier 1 & 2 capital funds	
(iii)	Minimum credit risk capital required	
	i.e. (i) x 15 per cent	
(iv)	Excess of Tier 1 & 2 capital funds available	
	for market risk capital charge i.e. (ii) (c) – (iii)	
(v)	The Market Risk capital charge worked	
	out as the higher of the amounts under the	
	Standardised method and the one as per	
	internal risk management framework based VaR model	
	(Appendices II and III)	
(vi)	Capital funds available to meet (v)	
	i.e: excess of Tier 1 and Tier 2 as at (iv) above,	
(vii)	Over all Capital Adequacy	
	(a) Total RWA for credit risk i.e. (i)	
	(b) Capital charge for market risk i.e. (v)	
	(c) Numerical Link for (b) =	6.67
	i.e.(reciprocal of credit risk capital ratio of 15%)	
	(d) Risk Weighted Assets relating to	

	Market Risk i.e. (b) x (c)	
	(e) Total Risk Weighted Assets i.e. (a) + (d)	
	(f) Minimum capital required i.e. (e) x 15%	
	(g) Total Capital funds available i.e. (ii) + (vi)	
	(h) <u>less</u> : Capital funds prescribed by other regulators/	
	licensors e.g. SEBI/ NSE/ BSE/OTCEI	
	(i) Net capital funds available (g – h)	
	for PD business	
(viii)	Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets Ratio (CRAR) % (i / e) *	
	100	

Publication of Financial Results

Name of Primary Dealer

Audited Financial Results for the year ended March 31,

Sources of Funds

Capital

Reserves and Surplus

Loans

Secured

Unsecured

(of which call money borrowings)

Application of Funds

Fixed Assets

Investments

Government Securities (inclusive of T-Bills & CMBs)

Commercial Papers

Corporate Bonds

Loans and Advances

(of which call money lendings)

Non Current Assets

Others

Profits and Loss account

Income (business segment wise)

Interest

Discount

Trading Profit

Expenses

Interest

Administrative Costs

Profit before tax

Net Profit

Regulatory Capital required (as per Capital Adequacy Guidelines)

Actual Capital

Return on Net Worth

Notes on Accounts:

Name of SPD:	

Declaration and Undertaking by Director (with enclosures as appropriate as				
<u>on</u>)				
I.	Pe	ersonal details of director		
	a.	Full name		
	b.	Date of Birth		
	C.	Educational Qualifications		
	d.	Relevant Background and Experience		
	e.	Permanent Address		
	f.	Present Address		
	g.	E-mail Address / Telephone Number		
	h.	Permanent Account Number under the Income Tax Act and name		
		and address of Income Tax Circle		
	i.	Relevant knowledge and experience		
	j.	Any other information relevant to Directorship of the NBFC		
II	Re	elevant Relationships of director		
	a.	List of Relatives if any who are connected with the NBFC (Refer		
		Section 6 and Schedule 1A of the Companies Act, 1956 and		
		corresponding provisions of New Companies Act, 2013)		
	b.	List of entities if any in which he/she is considered as being		
		interested (Refer Section 299(3)(a) and Section 300 of the		
		Companies Act, 1956 and corresponding provisions of New		
		Companies Act, 2013)		
	C.	List of entities in which he/she is considered as holding substantial		
		interest within the meaning of prudential norms as prescribed in		
		these Directions.		
	d.	Name of NBFC in which he/she is or has been a member of the board		
		(giving details of period during which such office was held)		
	e.	Fund and non-fund facilities, if any, presently availed of by him/her		
		and/or by entities listed in II (b) and (c) above from the NBFC		

	f.	Cases, if any, where the director or entities listed in II (b) and (c)			
		above are in default or have been in default in the past in respect of			
		credit facilities obtained from the NBFC or any other NBFC / bank.			
Ш	Re	ecords of professional achievements			
	a.	Relevant professional achievements			
IV.	Pr	roceedings, if any, against the director			
	a.	If the director is a member of a professional association/body, details			
		of disciplinary action, if any, pending or commenced or resulting in			
		conviction in the past against him/her or whether he/she has been			
		banned from entry into any profession/ occupation at any time.			
	b.	Details of prosecution, if any, pending or commenced or resulting in			
		conviction in the past against the director and/or against any of the			
		entities listed in II (b) and (c) above for violation of economic laws			
		and regulations			
	C.	Details of criminal prosecution, if any, pending or commenced or			
		resulting in conviction in the last five years against the director			
	d.	d. Whether the director attracts any of the disqualifications envisaged			
		under Section 274 of the Companies Act 1956 and corresponding			
		provisions of New Companies Act, 2013?			
	e.	Has the director or any of the entities at II (b) and (c) above been			
		subject to any investigation at the instance of Government			
		department or agency?			
	f.	Has the director at any time been found guilty of violation of			
		rules/regulations/ legislative requirements by customs/ excise			
		/income tax/foreign exchange /other revenue authorities, if so give			
		particulars			
	g.	Whether the director has at any time come to the adverse notice of			
		a regulator such as SEBI, IRDA, MCA.			
		(Though it shall not be necessary for a candidate to mention in			
		the column about orders and findings made by the regulators			
		which have been later on reversed/set aside in toto, it would be			
		necessary to make a mention of the same, in case the			
		reversal/setting aside is on technical reasons like limitation or			
		lack of jurisdiction, etc and not on merit, If the order of the			

	regulator is temporarily stayed and the ap	pellate/ court
	proceedings are pending, the same also should be	e mentioned.)
V.	Any other explanation / information in regard to ite	ms I to III and
	other information considered relevant for judging fit	t and proper
	Undertaking	
	I confirm that the above information is to the best of my I	knowledge and belief true
	and complete. I undertake to keep the NBFC fully inform	ned, as soon as possible,
	of all events which take place subsequent to my appoir	itment which are relevant
	to the information provided above.	
	I also undertake to execute the deed of covenant requi	red to be executed by all
	directors of the NBFC.	
	Place :	Signature
	Date :	
VI.	Remarks of Chairman of Nomination and	
	Remuneration Committee/Board of Directors of	
	NBFC	
	Place :	Signature
	Date:	

Form of Deed of Covenants with a Director of an SPD

THIS DEED OF COVENANT	「S is made this	day of	Two the	ousand
BETWEEN	, having its regist	tered office at		(hereinafter a
deposit taking NBFC and a r	non-deposit taking N	NBFC with asset s	size of	
₹ 500 crore and above being	called the "NBFC")	of the one part ar	nd Mr / Ms	
of (hereina	after called the "Dire	ector") of the othe	r part.	
WHEDEAS				

WHEKEA5

- A. The director has been appointed as a director on the Board of Directors of the NBFC (hereinafter called "the Board") and is required as a term of his / her appointment to enter into a Deed of Covenants with the NBFC.
- B. The director has agreed to enter into this Deed of Covenants, which has been approved by the Board, pursuant to his said terms of appointment.

NOW IT IS HEREBY AGREED AND THIS DEED OF COVENANTS WITNESSETH AS FOLLOWS:

- 1. The director acknowledges that his / her appointment as director on the Board of the NBFC is subject to applicable laws and regulations including the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the NBFC and the provisions of this Deed of Covenants.
- 2. The director covenants with the NBFC that:
- (i) The director shall disclose to the Board the nature of his / her interest, direct or indirect, if he / she has any interest in or is concerned with a contract or arrangement or any proposed contract or arrangement entered into or to be entered into between the NBFC and any other person, immediately upon becoming aware of the same or at meeting of the Board at which the question of entering into such contract or arrangement is taken into consideration or if the director was not at the date of that meeting concerned or interested in such proposed contract or arrangement, then at the first meeting of the Board held after he / she becomes so concerned or interested and in case of any other contract or arrangement, the required disclosure shall be made at the first meeting of the Board held after the director becomes concerned or interested in the contract or arrangement.
- (ii) The director shall disclose by general notice to the Board his / her other directorships, his / her memberships of bodies corporate, his / her interest in other entities and his /

- her interest as a partner or proprietor of firms and shall keep the Board apprised of all changes therein.
- (iii) The director shall provide to the NBFC a list of his / her relatives as defined in the Companies Act, 1956 or 2013 and to the extent the director is aware of directorships and interests of such relatives in other bodies corporate, firms and other entities.
- (iv) The director shall in carrying on his / her duties as director of the NBFC:
- a. use such degree of skill as may be reasonable to expect from a person with his / her knowledge or experience;
- b. in the performance of his / her duties take such care as he / she might be reasonably expected to take on his / her own behalf and exercise any power vested in him / her in good faith and in the interests of the NBFC;
- c. shall keep himself / herself informed about the business, activities and financial status of the NBFC to the extent disclosed to him / her;
- d. attend meetings of the Board and Committees thereof (collectively for the sake of brevity hereinafter referred to as "Board") with fair regularity and conscientiously fulfil his / her obligations as director of the NBFC;
- e. shall not seek to influence any decision of the Board for any consideration other than in the interests of the NBFC;
- f. shall bring independent judgment to bear on all matters affecting the NBFC brought before the Board including but not limited to statutory compliances, performance reviews, compliances with internal control systems and procedures, key executive appointments and standards of conduct;
- g. shall in exercise of his / her judgement in matters brought before the Board or entrusted to him / her by the Board be free from any business or other relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of his / her independent judgement; and
- h. shall express his / her views and opinions at Board meetings without any fear or favour and without any influence on exercise of his / her independent judgement; (v) The director shall have :
- a. fiduciary duty to act in good faith and in the interests of the NBFC and not for any collateral purpose;
- b. duty to act only within the powers as laid down by the NBFC's Memorandum and Articles of Association and by applicable laws and regulations; and
- c. duty to acquire proper understanding of the business of the NBFC.
- (vi) The director shall:

- a. not evade responsibility in regard to matters entrusted to him / her by the Board;
- b. not interfere in the performance of their duties by the whole-time directors and other officers of the NBFC and wherever the director has reasons to believe otherwise, he / she shall forthwith disclose his / her concerns to the Board; and
- c. not make improper use of information disclosed to him / her as a member of the Board for his / her or someone else's advantage or benefit and shall use the information disclosed to him / her by the NBFC in his / her capacity as director of the NBFC only for the purposes of performance of his / her duties as a director and not for any other purpose.
- 3. The NBFC covenants with the director that:
- (i) the NBFC shall apprise the director about:
- a. Board procedures including identification of legal and other duties of Director and required compliances with statutory obligations;
- b. control systems and procedures;
- c. voting rights at Board meetings including matters in which Director should not participate because of his / her interest, direct or indirect therein;
- d. qualification requirements and provide copies of Memorandum and Articles of Association;
- e. corporate policies and procedures;
- f. insider dealing restrictions;
- g. constitution of, delegation of authority to and terms of reference of various committees constituted by the Board;
- h. appointments of Senior Executives and their authority;
- i. remuneration policy,
- j. deliberations of committees of the Board, and
- k. communicate any changes in policies, procedures, control systems, applicable regulations including Memorandum and Articles of Association of the NBFC, delegation of authority, Senior Executives, etc. and appoint the compliance officer who shall be responsible for all statutory and legal compliance.
- (ii) the NBFC shall disclose and provide to the Board including the director all information which is reasonably required for them to carry out their functions and duties as a director of the NBFC and to take informed decisions in respect of matters brought before the Board for its consideration or entrusted to the director by the Board or any committee thereof;

- (iii) the disclosures to be made by the NBFC to the directors shall include but not be limited to the following:
- a. all relevant information for taking informed decisions in respect of matters brought before the Board;
- b. NBFC's strategic and business plans and forecasts;
- c. organisational structure of the NBFC and delegation of authority;
- d. corporate and management controls and systems including procedures;
- e. economic features and marketing environment;
- f. information and updates as appropriate on NBFC's products;
- g. information and updates on major expenditure;
- h. periodic reviews of performance of the NBFC; and
- i. report periodically about implementation of strategic initiatives and plans; (iv) the NBFC shall communicate outcome of Board deliberations to directors and concerned personnel and prepare and circulate minutes of the meeting of Board to directors in a timely manner and to the extent possible within two business days of the date of conclusion of the Board meeting; and
- (v) advise the director about the levels of authority delegated in matters placed before the Board.
- 4. The NBFC shall provide to the director periodic reports on the functioning of internal control system including effectiveness thereof.
- 5. The NBFC shall appoint a compliance officer who shall be a Senior executive reporting to the Board and be responsible for setting forth policies and procedures and shall monitor adherence to the applicable laws and regulations and policies and procedures including but not limited to directions of the Bank and other concerned statutory and governmental authorities.
- 6. The director shall not assign, transfer, sublet or encumber his / her office and his / her rights and obligations as director of the NBFC to any third party provided that nothing herein contained shall be construed to prohibit delegation of any authority, power, function or delegation by the Board or any committee thereof subject to applicable laws and regulations including Memorandum and Articles of Association of the NBFC.
- 7. The failure on the part of either party hereto to perform, discharge, observe or comply with any obligation or duty shall not be deemed to be a waiver thereof nor shall it operate as a bar to the performance, observance, discharge or compliance thereof at any time or times thereafter.

- 8. Any and all amendments and / or supplements and / or alterations to this Deed of Covenants shall be valid and effectual only if in writing and signed by the director and the duly authorised representative of the NBFC.
- 9. This Deed of Covenants has been executed in duplicate and both the copies shall be deemed to be originals.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF THE PARTIES HAVE DULY EXECUTED THIS AGREEMENT ON THE DAY, MONTH AND YEAR FIRST ABOVE WRITTEN.

For the NBFC	Director	
Ву	l	
Name:	Name:	
Title:		
In the presence of:		
1.		2

Indicative List of Balance Sheet Disclosures for SPDs

1. Minimum Disclosures

At a minimum, the items listed in this Annex shall be disclosed in the Notes to Accounts (NTA) by all SPDs. The disclosures listed are intended only to supplement, and not to replace, other disclosure requirements as applicable. SPDs are required to make disclosures in their financial statements in accordance with the guidelines in these Directions, applicable accounting standards, other laws, regulations, or accounting and financial reporting standards. More comprehensive disclosures than the minimum required are encouraged, especially if such disclosures significantly aid in the understanding of the financial position and performance. SPDs may omit those line items/ disclosures which are not applicable/ not permitted or with no exposure/ no transaction both in the current year and previous year. It may be noted that mere mention of an activity, transaction or item in the disclosure template does not imply that it is permitted, and SPDs shall refer to the extant statutory and regulatory requirements while determining the permissibility or otherwise of an activity or transaction. SPDs shall disclose comparative information in respect of the previous period for all amounts reported in the current period's financial statements. Further, SPDs shall include comparative information for narrative and descriptive information if it is relevant to understanding the current period's financial statements.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

SPDs shall disclose the accounting policies regarding key areas of operations at one place along with NTA in their financial statements. A suggestive list includes - Basis of Accounting, Transactions involving Foreign Exchange, Investments - Classification, Valuation, etc, Advances and Provisions thereon, Fixed Assets and Depreciation, Revenue Recognition, Employee Benefits, Provision for Taxation, Net Profit, etc.

3.1 Capital

	(Amount in ₹ cror			
	Particulars		Previous	
			Year	
i)	CRAR (%)			
ii)	CRAR – Tier 1 capital (%)			
iii)	CRAR - Tier 2 capital (%)			

iv)	Amount of subordinated debt raised as Tier 2 capital	
V)	Amount raised by issue of Perpetual Debt	
'/	Instruments	

3.2 Investments

	(Amount in ₹ crore)					
			Particulars	Current Year	Previous Year	
(1)	Value of Investments					
	(i)	Gro	ss Value of Investments			
		(a)	In India			
		(b)	Outside India,			
	(ii)	Pro	visions for Depreciation			
		(a)	In India			
		(b)	Outside India,			
	(iii)	Net	Value of Investments			
		(a)	In India			
		(b)	Outside India.			
(2)	Mov	eme	nt of provisions held towards depreciation			
	on ir	nvest	tments.			
	(i)	Opening balance				
	(ii)	Add	I : Provisions made during the year			
	(iii)	Les	s : Write-off / write-back of excess provisions			
	("")	duri	ng the year			
	(iv)	Clos	sing balance			

3.3 Derivatives

3.3.1 Forward Rate Agreement / Interest Rate Swap

(Amount in ₹ cror			
	Particulars	Current Year	Previous Year
(i)	The notional principal of swap agreements		

/ii\	Losses which would be incurred if counterparties failed	
(ii)	to fulfill their obligations under the agreements	
(iii)	Collateral required by the SPD upon entering into	
(111)	swaps	
(iv)	Concentration of credit risk arising from the swaps \$	
(v)	The fair value of the swap book @	

Note: Nature and terms of the swaps including information on credit and market risk and the accounting policies adopted for recording the swaps should also be disclosed.

- \$ Examples of concentration could be exposures to particular industries or swaps with highly geared companies.
- @ If the swaps are linked to specific assets, liabilities, or commitments, the fair value would be the estimated amount that the SPD would receive or pay to terminate the swap agreements as on the balance sheet date.

3.3.2 Exchange Traded Interest Rate (IR) Derivatives

	(Amount in ₹ crore									
S. No.		Particulars	Amount							
(i)	(i) Notional principal amount of exchange traded IR derivatives u									
	durir									
	a)									
	b)									
	c)									
(ii)	Notio	onal principal amount of exchange traded IR derivative	s outstanding as							
	on 3	1st March (instrument-wise)								
	a)									
	b)									
	c)									
(iii)	Notio	onal principal amount of exchange traded IR derivati	ves outstanding							
	and not "highly effective" (instrument-wise)									
	a)									
	b)									
	c)									

(iv)	Mark	Mark-to-market value of exchange traded IR derivatives outstanding and								
	not "highly effective" (instrument-wise)									
	a)									
	b)									
	c)									

3.3.3 Disclosures on Risk Exposure in Derivatives

Qualitative Disclosure

SPDs shall describe their risk management policies pertaining to derivatives with particular reference to the extent to which derivatives are used, the associated risks and business purposes served. The discussion shall also include:

- a) the structure and organization for management of risk in derivatives trading,
- b) the scope and nature of risk measurement, risk reporting and risk monitoring systems,
- c) policies for hedging and / or mitigating risk and strategies and processes for monitoring the continuing effectiveness of hedges / mitigants, and
- d) accounting policy for recording hedge and non-hedge transactions; recognition of income, premiums and discounts; valuation of outstanding contracts; provisioning, collateral and credit risk mitigation.

Quantitative Disclosures

SI.		Particular	Currency	Interest Rate			
No.		Particular	Derivatives	Derivatives			
(i)	Der	ivatives (Notional Principal Amount)	<u>'</u>	1			
	For	hedging					
(ii)	Marked to Market Positions [1]						
	a)	Asset (+)					
	b)	Liability (-)					
(iii)	Cre	dit Exposure [2]					
(iv)	Unh	nedged Exposures					

3.4 Disclosures relating to Securitisation

3.4.1 The NTA of the originating applicable NBFCs shall indicate the outstanding amount of securitised assets as per books of the SPVs sponsored by the applicable NBFC and total

amount of exposures retained by the NBFC as on the date of balance sheet to comply with the Minimum Retention Requirements (MRR). These figures shall be based on the information duly certified by the SPV's auditors obtained by the originating applicable NBFC from the SPV. These disclosures shall be made in the format given below.

Sr.		Particulars	No./Amount
No.		i ditiodidis	in ₹ crore
1.		of SPVs sponsored by the applicable NBFC for uritisation transactions*	
2.		al amount of securitised assets as per books of the SPVs nsored	
3.		al amount of exposures retained by the applicable NBFC to apply with MRR as on the date of balance sheet Off-balance sheet exposures	
	<i>a)</i>		
	b)		
4.	Δm	Others ount of exposures to securitisation transactions other than	
7.	MR		
	a)	Off-balance sheet exposures	
		i) Exposure to own securitizations	
		First loss Loss	
		ii) Exposure to third party securitisations	
		First loss	
		Others	
	b)	On-balance sheet exposures i) Exposure to own securitisations	
		First loss	
		Others	
		ii) Exposure to third party securitisations	
		First loss	

			Others	
*Only	the	SP	Vs relating to outstanding securitisation transactions sh	nall be reported
here				

3.4.2 Details of Financial Assets sold to Securitisation / Reconstruction Company for Asset Reconstruction

		(Amount in ₹ crore			
	Particulars	Current	Previous		
	Faiticulais	year	Year		
(i)	No. of accounts				
(ii)	Aggregate value (net of provisions) of accounts sold to				
(11)	SC / RC				
(iii)	Aggregate consideration				
(iv)	Additional consideration realized in respect of accounts				
(17)	transferred in earlier years				
(v)	Aggregate gain / loss over net book value				

3.4.3 Details of Assignment transactions undertaken by applicable NBFCs

	(Amount in ₹ crore)							
	Particulars	Current year	Previous Year					
(i)	No. of accounts							
(ii)	Aggregate value (net of provisions) of accounts sold							
(iii)	Aggregate consideration							
(iv)	Additional consideration realized in respect of accounts transferred in earlier years							
(v)	Aggregate gain / loss over net book value							

3.4.4 Details of non-performing financial assets purchased / sold

Applicable NBFCs which purchase non-performing financial assets from other NBFCs shall be required to make the following disclosures in the NTA to their Balance sheets:

A. Details of non-performing financial assets purchased :

	(Amount in ₹ crore							
		Particulars	Current year	Previous Year				
1.	(a)	No. of accounts purchased during the year						
	(b)	Aggregate outstanding						
2.	(a)	Of these, number of accounts restructured during the year						
	(b)	Aggregate outstanding						

B. Details of Non-performing Financial Assets sold:

(Amount in ₹ c					
	Particulars	Current	Previous		
		year	Year		
1.	No. of accounts sold				
2.	Aggregate outstanding				
3.	Aggregate consideration received				

3.5 Asset Liability Management Maturity pattern of certain items of Assets and Liabilities

	Up to 30/31 days	Over 1 month upto 2 Month	Over 2 months upto 3 months	Over 3 month & up to 6 month	Over 6 Month & up to 1 year	& up	Over 3 years & up to 5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Deposits									
Advances									
Investments									
Borrowings									

Foreign					
Currency					
assets					
Foreign					
Currency					
liabilities					

3.6 Exposures

3.6.1 Exposure to Real Estate Sector

			(Amoun	t in ₹ crore)	
			Current Year	Previous Year	
a)	Dire	ect E			
	(i)	Resi	dential Mortgages -		
		Lenc	ling fully secured by mortgages on residential		
		prop	erty that is or will be occupied by the borrower		
		or th	at is rented		
	(ii)	Com	mercial Real Estate -		
		Lenc	ling secured by mortgages on commercial real		
		esta	tes (office buildings, retail space, multi-purpose		
		comi	mercial premises, multi-family residential		
		build	ings, multi-tenanted commercial premises,		
		indu	strial or warehouse space, hotels, land		
		acqu	isition, development and construction, etc.).		
		Expo	osure would also include non-fund based limits		
	(iii)	Inve	stments in Mortgage Backed Securities		
		(MB	S) and other securitised exposures -		
		a.	Residential		
		b.	Commercial Real Estate		
	Indi	rect E	xposure		
b)	Fun	d bas	sed and non-fund based exposures on National		
	Hou	sing l	Bank and Housing Finance Companies.		
Tot	al E	xpos	ure to Real Estate Sector		

3.6.2 Exposure to Capital Market

Particulars Cur	ront	
	rent	Previous
	ar	Year
(i) Direct investment in equity shares, convertible bonds,		
convertible debentures and units of equity-oriented		
mutual funds the corpus of which is not exclusively		
invested in corporate debt;		
(ii) Advances against shares / bonds / debentures or other		
securities or on clean basis to individuals for investment		
in shares (including IPOs / ESOPs), convertible bonds,		
convertible debentures, and units of equity-oriented		
mutual funds;		
(iii) Advances for any other purposes where shares or		
convertible bonds or convertible debentures or units of		
equity oriented mutual funds are taken as primary		
security;		
(iv) Advances for any other purposes to the extent secured		
by the collateral security of shares or convertible bonds		
or convertible debentures or units of equity oriented		
mutual funds i.e. where the primary security other than		
shares / convertible bonds / convertible debentures /		
units of equity oriented mutual funds 'does not fully cover		
the advances;		
Secured and unsecured advances to stockbrokers and		
(v) guarantees issued on behalf of stockbrokers and market		
makers;		
(vi) Loans sanctioned to corporates against the security of		
shares/ bonds/ debentures or other securities or on clean		
basis for meeting promoter's contribution to the equity of		
new companies in anticipation of raising resources;		
Bridge loans to companies against expected equity flows		
(vii) / issues;		

	All exposures to Alternative Investment Funds:	
/s ###)	(i) Category I	
(viii)	(ii) Category II	
	(iii) Category III	
	Underwriting commitments taken up by the SPDs in	
(ix)	respect of primary issue of shares or convertible bonds	
(IX)	or convertible debentures or units of equity oriented	
	mutual funds	
(x)	Financing to stockbrokers for margin trading	
Tota	I Exposure to Capital Market	

3.6.3 Details of financing of parent company products

3.6.4 Details of Single Borrower Limit (SGL)/ Group Borrower Limit (GBL) exceeded by the SPD

The SPD shall make appropriate disclosure in the NTA to the annual financial statements in respect of the exposures where the SPD had exceeded the prudential exposure limits during the year. Computation of exposure limits shall be reckoned as per credit/investment concentration norms prescribed in these Directions.

3.6.5 Unsecured Advances

- a) For determining the amount of unsecured advances the rights, licenses, authorisations, etc., charged to the SPDs as collateral in respect of projects (including infrastructure projects) financed by them, shall not be reckoned as tangible security. Hence such advances shall be reckoned as unsecured.
- b) SPDs shall also disclose the total amount of advances for which intangible securities such as charge over the rights, licenses, authority, etc. has been taken as also the estimated value of such intangible collateral. The disclosure shall be made under a separate head in NTA. This would differentiate such loans from other entirely unsecured loans.

3.6.6 Intra-group exposures

SPDs shall make the following disclosures for the current year with comparatives for the previous year:

- (i) Total amount of intra-group exposures
- (ii) Total amount of top 20 intra-group exposures
- (iii)Percentage of intra-group exposures to total exposure of the SPD on counterparties.

3.6.7 Unhedged foreign currency exposure

SPDs shall disclose details of its unhedged foreign currency exposures. Further, they shall also disclose their policies to manage currency induced risk.

4. Miscellaneous

4.1 Registration obtained from other financial sector regulators

4.2 Disclosure of Penalties and strictures imposed by the Reserve Bank and other regulatory/ statutory authority

Consistent with the international best practices in disclosure of penalties or strictures imposed by the Reserve Bank or any other regulatory/ statutory authority, placing the details of the levy of penalty on the SPD in public domain will be in the interests of the investors and depositors. Further, strictures or directions on the basis of inspection reports or other adverse findings should also be placed in the public domain. The penalties and strictures shall also be disclosed in the NTA.

4.3 Related Party Transactions

a. Related Party Disclosure

The SPD shall disclose the policy on dealing with Related Party Transactions on its website and also in the Annual Report. The details of material transactions with related parties shall be disclosed in the annual report. Further, the SPD shall additionally disclose the related party transactions in the following format:

Related Party	(as owner	rent per ship or trol)	Subsi	diaries	Jo	ciates/ int cures		ey gement @	K Manag	ves of ey gement onnel [@]	Othe	ers*	To	tal
Items	Current year	Previous year	Current year	Previous year	Current year	Previous year	Current year	Previous year	Current year	Previous year	Current year	Previous Year	Current year	Previous year
Borrowings#														
Deposits#														
Placement of														
deposits#														
Advances [#]														
Investments#														
Purchase of fixed/other assets														
Sale of fixed/other assets														
Interest paid														
Interest received														
Others*														

[@]Disclosures for directors and relatives of directors should be made separately in separate columns from other KMPs and relatives of other KMPs.

Notes:

- 1. Related party, in the context of the aforementioned disclosure, shall include all related parties as per the applicable accounting standards. Further, related party shall also include following related parties defined under Section 2(76) of the Companies Act, 2013.
 - (i) a director or his relative;
 - (ii) a key managerial personnel or his relative;
 - (iii) a firm, in which a director, manager or his relative is a partner;
 - (iv) a private company in which a director or manager or his relative is a member or director;
 - (v) a public company in which a director or manager is a director or holds along with his relatives, more than two percent of its paid-up share capital;

[#] The outstanding at the year end and the maximum during the year are to be disclosed.

^{*} Specify item if total for the item is more than 5 percent of total related party transactions. Related parties would include trusts and other bodies in which the SPD can directly or indirectly (through its related parties) exert control or significant influence.

- (vi) any body corporate whose Board of Directors, managing director or manager is accustomed to act in accordance with the advice, directions or instructions of a director or manager;
- (vii) any person on whose advice, directions or instructions a director or manager is accustomed to act.

Provided that nothing in clauses (vi) and (vii) shall apply to the advice, directions or instructions given in a professional capacity;

- 2. At a minimum, Key Management Personal (KMPs) shall include following key managerial personnel as per Section 2(51) of the Companies Act, 2013.
 - (i) the Chief Executive Officer or the managing director or the manager;
 - (ii) the company secretary;
 - (iii) the whole-time director;
 - (iv) the Chief Financial Officer;
 - (v) such other officer, not more than one level below the Directors who is in whole-time employment, designated as key managerial personnel by the Board; and
 - (vi) such other officer as may be prescribed.
- 3. Relatives of KMPs at the minimum, shall include following relatives as defined under Section 2(77) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 4 of the Companies (Specification of definitions details) Rules, 2014.
 - (i) They are members of a Hindu Undivided Family;
 - (ii) They are husband and wife; or
 - (iii) One person is related to the other in such manner as may be prescribed;

A person shall be deemed to be the relative of another, if he or she is related to another in the following manner, namely:-

- (i) Father; Provided that the term "Father" includes step-father.
- (ii) Mother: Provided that the term "Mother" includes the step-mother.
- (iii) Son: Provided that the term "Son" includes the step-son.
- (iv) Son's wife.
- (v) Daughter.
- (vi) Daughter's husband.
- (vii)Brother: Provided that the term "Brother" includes the step-brother;
- (viii) Sister: Provided that the term "Sister" includes the step-sister.

4.4 Ratings assigned by credit rating agencies and migration of ratings during the year

4.5 Remuneration of Directors

All pecuniary relationship or transactions of the non-executive directors vis-à-vis the company shall be disclosed in the Annual Report.

4.6 Management Discussion and Analysis Report

As part of the directors' report or as an addition thereto, a Management Discussion and Analysis report should form part of the Annual Report to the shareholders. This Management Discussion & Analysis shall include discussion on the following matters within the limits set by the company's competitive position: a. Industry structure and developments.

- b. Opportunities and Threats.
- c. Segment-wise or product-wise performance.
- d. Outlook
- e. Risks and concerns.
- f. Internal control systems and their adequacy.
- g. Discussion on financial performance with respect to operational performance.
- h. Material developments in Human Resources / Industrial Relations front, including number of people employed.

4.7 Net Profit or Loss for the period, prior period items and changes in accounting policies

Since the format of the profit and loss account of SPDs does not specifically provide for disclosure of the impact of prior period items on the current year's profit and loss, such disclosures, wherever warranted, shall be made in the NTA.

4.8 Revenue Recognition

An enterprise shall also disclose the circumstances in which revenue recognition has been postponed pending the resolution of significant uncertainties.

4.9 Consolidated Financial Statements (CFS)

SPDs shall be guided by applicable Accounting Standards in this regard.

A parent company, presenting the CFS, should consolidate the financial statements of all subsidiaries - domestic as well as foreign. The reasons for not consolidating a subsidiary shall be disclosed in the CFS. The responsibility of determining whether a particular entity shall be included or not for consolidation would be that of the Management of the parent entity. In case, its Statutory Auditors are of the opinion that an entity, which ought to have been consolidated, has been omitted, they should incorporate their comments in this regard in the "Auditors Report".

4.10 Breach of covenant

SPDs shall disclose all instances of breach of covenant of loan availed or debt securities issued.

5. Additional Disclosures

5.1 Provisions and Contingencies

To facilitate easy reading of the financial statements and to make the information on all Provisions and Contingencies available at one place, SPDs are required to disclose in the NTA the following information:

	(Amount	in ₹ crore)
Break up of 'Provisions and Contingencies' shown under	Current	Previous
the head Expenditure in Profit and Loss Account	Year	Year
Provisions for depreciation on Investment		
Provision towards NPA		
Provision made towards Income tax		
Other Provision and Contingencies (with details)		
Provision for Standard Assets		

5.2 Draw Down from Reserves

Suitable disclosures shall be made regarding any draw down of reserves in the NTA.

5.3 Concentration of Deposits, Advances, Exposures and NPAs

5.3.1 Concentration of Deposits (for deposit taking NBFCs)

	(Am	ount in ₹ crore)
Total Deposits of twenty largest depositors		

Percentage of Deposits of twenty largest depositors to Total Deposits of the	
deposit taking NBFC.	

5.3.2 Concentration of Advances

(Ame	ount in ₹ crore)
Total Advances to twenty largest borrowers	
Percentage of Advances to twenty largest borrowers to Total Advances of	
the applicable NBFC	

5.3.3 Concentration of Exposures

(Amou	nt in ₹ crore)
Total Exposure to twenty largest borrowers / customers	
Percentage of Exposures to twenty largest borrowers / customers to	
Total Exposure of the SPD on borrowers / customers	

5.3.4 Concentration of NPAs

	(Amount in ₹ crore)
Total Exposure to top four NPA accounts	

5.3.5 Sectoral exposure

	С	urrent Yea	r		Previo	us Year
	Total	Gross	Percentag	Total	Gross	Percentag
	Exposure	NPAs	e of Gross	Exposure	NPAs	e of Gross
	(includes	(₹ crore)	NPAs to	(includes	(₹ crore)	NPAs to
Sectors	on balance		total	on		total
	sheet and		exposure	balance		exposure
	off-balance		in that	sheet and		in that
	sheet		sector	off-		sector
	exposure)			balance		
	(₹ crore)			sheet		
1. Agriculture and				exposure)		
Allied Activities						

2. Industry			
i. MSME			
ii. Corporate			
borrowers			
Others			
Total of Industry			
(i+ii++Others)			
3. Services			
i			
ii			
Others			
Total of Services			
(i+ii++Others)			
4. Personal Loans			
i. Unsecured			
personal loans			
ii. Auto loans			
Others			
Total of Personal			
Loans			
(i+ii++Others)			
5. Others, if any			
(please specify)			

Notes:

- (i) The disclosures as above shall be based on the sector-wise and industry-wise bank credit (SIBC) return submitted by scheduled commercial banks to the Reserve Bank and published by the Reserve Bank as 'Sectoral Deployment of Bank Credit'.
- (ii) In the disclosures as above, if within a sector, exposure to a specific subsector/industry is more than 10 percent of Tier 1 capital of SPD, the same shall be disclosed separately within that sector. Further, within a sector, if exposure to specific sub-sector/industry is

less than 10 percent of Tier 1 capital, such exposures shall be clubbed and disclosed as "Others" within that sector.

5.4 Movement of NPAs

	(Amount in ₹ crore						
		Particulars	Current	Previous			
		- 	Year	Year			
(i)	Net	NPAs to Net Advances (%)					
(ii)	Mov	vement of NPAs (Gross)					
	(a)	Opening balance					
	(b)	Additions during the year					
	(c)	Reductions during the year					
	(d)	Closing balance					
(iii)	Mov	vement of Net NPAs					
	(a)	Opening balance					
	(b)	Additions during the year					
	(c)	Reductions during the year					
	(d)	Closing balance					
(iv)	Mov	vement of provisions for NPAs (excluding provisions o	n standard	assets)			
	(a)	Opening balance					
	(b)	Provisions made during the year					
	(c)	Write-off / write-back of excess provisions					
	(d)	Closing balance					

5.5 Overseas Assets (for those with Joint Ventures and Subsidiaries abroad)

Name of the Joint Venture/ Subsidiary	Other Partner in the JV	Country	Total Assets

5.6 Off-balance Sheet SPVs sponsored

(which are required to be consolidated as per accounting norms)

Name of the SPV sponsored			
Domestic Overseas			

6. Disclosure of Complaints

6.1 Summary information on complaints received by the SPDs from customers and from the Offices of Ombudsman (applicable in case included under The Reserve Bank – Integrated Ombudsman Scheme, 2021)

Sr.	Doutionland	Current	Previous			
No	Particulars	Year	Year			
	Complaints received by the SPD from its cust	omers				
(a) No. of complaints pending at the beginning of the year						
(b)	No. of complaints received during the year					
(c)	No. of complaints disposed during the year					
	(i) Of which, number of complaints rejected by the SPD					
(d)	No. of complaints pending at the end of the year					
	Maintainable complaints received by the SPD from the Off	ice of Ombu	dsman			
(applicable in case included under The Reserve Bank – Inte	grated Omb	udsman			
	Scheme, 2021)					
(e)	Number of maintainable complaints received by the SPD					
(6)	from the Office of Ombudsman					
	(i) Of (e), number of complaints resolved in favour of the					
	SPD by Office of Ombudsman					
	(ii) Of (e), number of complaints resolved through					
	conciliation/ mediation/ advisories issued by the Office of					
	Ombudsman					
	(iii) Of (e), number of complaints resolved after passing of					
	Awards by the Office of Ombudsman against the SPD					
/ f \	Number of Awards unimplemented with the stipulated time					
(f)	(other than those appealed)					
Note	: Maintainable complaints refer to complaints on the ground	ds specificall	y mentioned			
in the	in the Integrated Ombudsman Scheme, 2021 and covered in the ambit of the Scheme.					

6.2. Top five grounds¹ of complaints received by the SPDs from customers

¹ The list of grounds of complaints given below are indicative only.

1.Credit Cards	2. Difficulty in operation of accounts	3. Mis-selling	4. Recovery Agents/
			Direct Sales Agents

Grounds of complaints, (i.e. complaints relating to)	complaints pending at the beginning of the year	during the year	received over the previous year	Number of complaints pending at the end of the year	Of 5, number of complaints pending beyond 30 days
1	2	3	4	5	6
			Current Year		
Ground - 1					
Ground - 2					
Ground - 3					
Ground - 4					
Ground - 5					
Others					
Total					
			Previous Year		
Ground - 1					
Ground - 2					
Ground - 3					
Ground - 4					
Ground - 5					
Others					
Total					

7. Corporate governance

Securities and Exchange Board of India [Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements(LODR)] Regulations, 2015 (paragraph C of Schedule V - Annual Report) as amended from time to time, specifies disclosures to be made in the section on the corporate

5. Loans and advances	6. Levy of charges without prior notice/	7. Non-observance of	8. Staff behaviour
	excessive charges/ foreclosure charges	fair practices code	
9. Facilities for customers	10. Others		
visiting the office/			
adherence to prescribed			
working hours, etc.			

governance of the Annual Report. With respect to the corporate governance report, non-listed SPDs should also endeavor to make full disclosure in accordance with the requirement of SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015. Non-listed SPDs at the minimum should disclose following under the corporate governance section of the annual report.

7.1 Composition of the Board

			Capacity (i.e. Executive/ Non-			er of Board eetings			on	No.	of	
SI. No.	Name of Director	Director since	Executive/ Chairman/ Promoter nominee/ Independe nt)	DIN	Held	Attended	No. of other Director ships	Salary and other compens ation	Sitting Fee	Comm	shares in and conver instrum held in SPE	tible ents the

Details of change in composition of the Board during the current and previous financial year.

SI.	Name of	Capacity	Nature of change	Effective
No.	Director	(i.e., Executive/ Non-Executive/	(resignation,	date
		Chairman/ Promoter nominee/ Independent)	appointment)	

Where an independent director resigns before expiry of her/his term, the reasons for resignation as given by her/him shall be disclosed.

Details of any relationship amongst the directors inter-se shall be disclosed

- **7.2 Committees of the Board and their composition** (i) Mention the names of the committees of the Board.
- (ii) For each committee, mention the summarized terms of reference and provide the following details.

SI.	Name of	Member of	Capacity (i.e., Executive		Meetings of ommittee	No. of
No.	Director	Committee since	NonExecutive/ Chairman/ Promoter nominee/ Independent)	Held	Attended	shares held in the SPD
1.			Chairperson			
2.						

7.3 General Body Meetings

Give details of the date, place and special resolutions passed at the General Body Meetings.

SI.	Type of Meeting (Annual/ Extra-	Date and	Special resolutions passed
No.	Ordinary)	Place	

7.4 Details of non-compliance with requirements of Companies Act, 2013

Give details and reasons of any default in compliance with the requirements of Companies Act, 2013, including with respect to compliance with accounting and secretarial standards.

8. Divergence in Asset Classification and Provisioning

SPDs shall disclose details of divergence as per the table given below, if either or both of the following conditions are satisfied:

- (i) The additional provisioning requirements assessed by the Reserve Bank exceeds 5 percent of the reported profits before tax and impairment loss on financial instruments for the reference period,
- (ii) The additional Gross NPAs identified by the Reserve Bank exceeds 5 percent of the reported Gross NPAs for the reference period.

Sr.	Particulars	Amount
1.	Gross NPAs as on March 31, 20XX* as reported by the SPD	
2.	Gross NPAs as on March 31, 20XX as assessed by the	
	Reserve Bank	
3.	Divergence in Gross NPAs (2-1)	
4.	Net NPAs as on March 31, 20XX as reported by the SPD	
5.	Net NPAs as on March 31, 20XX as assessed by the Reserve	
	Bank	

6.	Divergence in Net NPAs (5-4)	
7.	Provisions for NPAs as on March 31, 20XX as reported by the	
	SPD	
8.	Provisions for NPAs as on March 31, 20XX as assessed by	
	the Reserve Bank	
9.	Divergence in provisioning (8-7)	
10.	Reported Profit before tax and impairment loss on financial	
	instruments for the year ended March 31, 20XX	
11.	Reported Net Profit after Tax (PAT) for the year ended March	
	31, 20XX	
12.	Adjusted (notional) Net Profit after Tax (PAT) for the year	
	ended March 31, 20XX after considering the divergence in	
	provisioning	

^{*} March 31, 20XX is the close of the reference period in respect of which divergences were assessed.

Reporting Format for Primary Dealers declaring Dividend							
Details of dividend declared during the financial year beginning on							
Name of the Primary Dealer							
Accounting Period*	Net Profit for the Accounting Period (Cumulative)	Rate of Dividend (Cumulative)	Amount of Dividend (excluding Dividend Tax) (Cumulative)	Payout Ratio (Cumulative)			
	₹ crore	Per cent	₹ crore	Per cent			
* - quarter or half year or year ended, as the case may be.							
Note: While submitting the statement for the final dividend declared, details of the interim dividends declared, if any,							
shall also be included in the statement.							
I / We confirm that the guidelines issued by the Bank for declaration of dividend have been complied with while declaring the abovementioned dividend.							
Authorised Signatories							
Name : Designation :							
Date :							